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QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d)
OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

FOR THE QUARTERLY PERIOD ENDED JUNE 30, 2000
Commission File Number 1-10537
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(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

DELAWARE 76-0304436
(State or other jurisdiction of (I.R.S. Employer
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HOUSTON, TEXAS 77002
(Address of Principal Executive Offices) (Zip Code)

Registrant's telephone number, including area code: (713) 652-0706

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required
to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the Registrant
was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing
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Yes X No
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PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION
ITEM 1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NUEVO ENERGY COMPANY

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(Amounts in Thousands, Except Share Data)

June 30, 2000

(Unaudited)
ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS:

Cash and cash equivalent s . ...ttt ittt ittt ittt ettt et eeaeeeeeeeennaaeens S 13,122
ACCOUNES TECEIVAD L v ittt ittt it et ettt ittt e et ettt et e e e 36,554
ProdUCE dNVeNE O Y vttt ittt e e e e e e e ettt ettt ettt .. 11,135
Prepaid expenses and OtLher .. ...ttt ittt ettt et ettt e 4,961
Total CUTLTrEeNt ASSEE S i ittt ittt ittt ettt ettt ettt eeeeeeeeeeeneeaeeaeeenenn 65,772

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, AT COST:
T o Y 51,017
0il and gas properties (successful efforts method) .......... ... 1,045,774
Gas plant facilitades ittt it ittt e e e e e e e e e e e et e e 12,020
(@3 ol ol i Ko 0 e I i = 12,595
1,121,406
Accumulated depreciation, depletion and amortization ............c.. ... (461,191)
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660,215
DEFERRED TAX ASSETS, NET ittt ittt ittt ettt e teeeseesesessesssaseesssassesssasees 22,971
OTHE R ASSE T S it it i it et it et e et e et s oo oo s osoeseeaseesssossesssassesssassesssasoes 20,284
$ 769,242
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
CURRENT LIABILITIES:
ACCOUNL S PAVAD e ittt ittt ettt ettt et e et e ettt S 14,667
D2 T o 5 =T s o o = Y i 2,474
Accrued 1iabliladtdes v ittt ittt e et e e et e e e e ettt e e e ettt e e 40,304
Current maturities of long-term debt ... .. ..ttt ittt ittt -
Total current 1iabilities i ittt ittt it e ittt ettt ettt aeeeeeenen 57,445
LONG-TERM DEBT, NET OF CURRENT MATURITIES .. ittt ittt eteeeeeeseesesossesssasees 363,227
OTHER LONG—TERM LIABTI LTI T T S it ittt ittt e et oot e oo s oosesassesesassesssassesssesoes 8,447
CONTINGENCIES
COMPANY-OBLIGATED MANDATORILY REDEEMABLE CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED
SECURITIES OF NUEVO FINANCING I 4ttt ittt ettt oeeeeeoeeseeessnssesssaseeassesss 115,000
STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY:
Common stock, $.01 par value, 50,000,000 shares authorized,
20,589,072 and 20,437,371 shares issued and 17,421,594
and 17,931,393 shares outstanding at June 30, 2000 and
December 31, 1999, respeChively ... ittt it ittt ettt eeeeeeeeeeeanens 206
Additional paid—in Capital ...ttt ittt ittt e e e e et e e e e 360,397
Treasury stock, at cost, 3,006,452 and 2,430,074 shares, at
June 30, 2000 and December 31, 1999, respectively ....c.ciiiiiiiiiiinnnennn. (61,935)
Stock held by benefit trust, 161,026 and 75,904 shares, at
June 30, 2000 and December 31, 1999, respectively ....c.c.iiiiiiiiiiinnnnenn. (3,395)
Deferred stocCk COmMPensSation . ...ttt ittt ittt ettt eaeeeeeeeenaeaeens (233)
Accumulated defiCit ittt ittt et e e e e e e e e e e e et e e et et e e e e e e e e (69,917)
Total stockholders' equUity ...ttt ittt ittt ettt et ettt eeeeaeens 225,123
$ 769,242

See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.

3
4
NUEVO ENERGY COMPANY
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS (Unaudited)
(Amounts in Thousands, Except per Share Data)
Three Months Ended Jun
2000 1
REVENUES:
01l and gaAS TEVENUES . vttt vveennnnneeeeeeeneeneeneeeeseeeeenenaaeeesns $ 72,599 S 5
Gain on sale of assets, Net ...ttt ittt it ettt et eee e 366 (
Interest and other INCoOmMe ... ..ttt ittt ittt ettt eaeeeeeaeens 195
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73,160
COSTS AND EXPENSES:
Lease OpPerating EXPEINSES vttt vttt eeeeeeeneeeeeseeneeeeeeeenneeeens 34,273
EXPLloration COSE S v ittt ittt i et ettt et et ettt eeeeeeeeeeaaeaaaaeens 1,488
Depreciation, depletion and amortization .............iiiiiieeeeenn. 15,582
General and administrative EXPEeNSES ...ttt it ittt tnneeeeeeenneenens 4,101
QUL SOULCING £EES i ittt it ittt ettt ettt ettt eeeeeee e eeaeeeeaaeens 3,430
TNt ErEe St XD OIS &t ittt ettt ettt e ettt et ettt 8,517
Dividends on Guaranteed Preferred
Beneficial Interests in Company's
Convertible Debentures (TECONS) ittt ittt ittt e eeteeenenenenns 1,653
(@ o T D o T o = 2,687
71,731
Income (10sSs) before INCOmME LaAXES v ittt it e e ee e eeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeen 1,429
Provision (benefit) for income f£aXes .. .. i ittt ittt ettt 575
NET INCOME (LOSS) vttt ittt ottt eeteeeeeeennseenseeneeeaseeneeneesaneeneennss $ 854
EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE:
BASIC:
FEarnings (losSsS) per COmMON Share . ...ttt it ittt eeeeeeeeeeeaneeeeeeens S 0.05
Weighted average common shares outstanding ...........iieiiiieeneennnnn 17,587
DILUTED:
FEarnings (losSsS) pPer COMMON Share . ...t iiiin ettt eeeeeeeeeeeaneeeeneens S 0.05
Weighted average common and dilutive potential
common shares oUtstanding .. ...ttt ittt ittt ittt ettt enneaeens 17,939
See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.
4
5
NUEVO ENERGY COMPANY
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS (Unaudited)
(Amounts in Thousands, Except per Share Data)
REVENUES:
O1]l ANd gAS FEVENUES & ettt vttt tee e e et eeaoeeeeeeeeaeeeeeeeeeaeeeeeeeenneeeeens

Six Months

$143,328

4
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Gain on sale of assel s, Nel ..ttt ittt it et ettt ettt eee e eeeenenn 506
Interest and oOother INnCOmME ...ttt ittt et ettt eeeeeeeeeenaeaeens 821
144,655

COSTS AND EXPENSES:

Lease OPEralinNg EXPEISES v v vt vttt eeeeeeeneeeeeeeeneeeeeeeeeneeeeeeeeanens 65,384
EXPLOration COSE S v ittt it ittt e e e e e ettt et e ettt ae ettt 4,742
Depreciation, depletion and amortization .........iiii it ineneeeeennnneens 31,823
General and administrative EXPENSES ittt ittt ittt ettt ettt e 9,473
QUL SOULCING £EES ittt it ittt e e e et et e e e e ettt eae et eeaeeeeeeeenaaaeens 6,763
I N ot Y A D T o 1 16,807

Dividends on Guaranteed Preferred
Beneficial Interests in Company's

Convertible Debentures (TECONS) & i ittt ittt ettt eeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeenenns 3,306

(@l L D o 1 o = 3,847
142,145

Income before 1nCOmME LaXE S it it ittt ittt ittt ettt et eeeeeeeaeeeeeeneeaeeeneean 2,510
Provision for InNCOmME LaXeS it it ittt ittt et teeteeeeeeeeeeeeeeneeneeeeeenens 1,011
NE T TN COME ot i it it et e et e e et e o oo oo s o oo aoosoesssassesssasessssossssssasoeassnsss S 1,499

EARNINGS PER SHARE:

BASIC:

Earnings per COmMmMON Share . ...t ittt ittt ettt et eeeeeeeeeeaaeeeeneens $ 0.08
Weighted average common shares outstanding ... ...ttt iiinie ettt eeeeeeeannns 17,701
DILUTED:

Earnings per COmMMON Share . ...ttt ittt ettt tee et eeeeeeeeeeaeeeeeneens $ 0.08

Weighted average common and dilutive potential
common shares oULsStanNding ...ttt ittt it ettt ettt et eaeeeeeeeenaeaaes 18,074

See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.

NUEVO ENERGY COMPANY
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (Unaudited)
(Amounts in Thousands)
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CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:

J LS A I8 'a o) 111

Adjustments to reconcile net income to
net cash provided by/ (used in) operating activities:

Depreciation, depletion and amortization ............ciiiiiiii.
Gain on sale of asset S, NeL ittt ittt ittt ittt ettt ettt eeeeeeean
Dry hole COSES vttt it ittt e e e et et e et ettt e taeeeee e
Amortization of other CoOSts ...ttt ettt et e ettt e e
Deferred LaXe S ittt ittt ittt et ettt e e e e e
Mark to market of deferred compensation plan ...........oeeeeeeennn.
Mark to market of liability management SwWap .« ... eeoeneneneeennnnsn
O o

Changes in assets and liabilities:

AccoUunts recelvable ... e e e e e e e e et e e e
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities ......i ittt ennnnnnns
Lol o L

NET CASH PROVIDED BY/ (USED IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIES ..t itvitmtnnrnenennenennns

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:

Additions to 0il and gas PropPerties ..ttt ittt e e e e e e
Acquisitions of 01l and gas ProPEerLiesS .. ittt it ittt ittt ettt e
Additions to gas plant facilities ...ttt ittt e e e
Additions to other facilities ...ttt ettt i
Proceeds from sales Of properties . ...ttt ittt ittt et

NET CASH (USED IN)/PROVIDED BY INVESTING ACTIVITIES .. itvittnnrnenennenennns

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:

Proceeds from DoOrroOWings . .u i ittt ittt ettt ettt ettt ettt e
Deferred financCing COSE S v ittt ittt ittt it ettt ettt ettt aeeeeeeeeeannens
Payments of long-term debt ... ...t it e e e et e
Treasury STOCK PUIChASES ittt ittt ittt et e ettt et ettt eeeeeeeeeeanens
Proceeds from issuance of common stock ..........iiiiiiiiiiiiiiii i
NET CASH PROVIDED BY/ (USED IN) FINANCING ACTIVITIES ..t vttiimmeneeeeeennnnnn
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents ....... ...ttt ennnnnnns
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of
ST ol oY
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF PERIOD ..ttt it ittt ittt teteeneneneeeeens

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION:
Cash paid during the period for:

Interest (net of amounts capitalized) ........iiiiiiiit ittt eennnnn
B o) = T o -

See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.
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NUEVO ENERGY COMPANY
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(UNAUDITED)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements
have been prepared in accordance with the rules and regulations of the
Securities and Exchange Commission and, therefore, do not include all
disclosures required by generally accepted accounting principles.
However, in the opinion of management, these statements include all
adjustments, which are of a normal recurring nature, necessary to
present fairly the financial position at June 30, 2000 and December 31,
1999 and the results of operations and changes in cash flows for the
periods ended June 30, 2000 and 1999. These financial statements should
be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and
notes to consolidated financial statements in the 1999 Form 10-K of
Nuevo Energy Company (the "Company").

USE OF ESTIMATES

In order to prepare these financial statements in conformity with
generally accepted accounting principles, management of the Company has
made a number of estimates and assumptions relating to the reporting of
assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities, as well as reserve information, which affects the
depletion calculation. Actual results could differ from those
estimates.

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Comprehensive income includes net income and all changes in other
comprehensive income including, among other things, foreign currency
translation adjustments, and unrealized gains and losses on certain
investments in debt and equity securities. There are no differences
between comprehensive income (loss) and net income (loss) for the
periods presented.

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Company utilizes derivative financial instruments to reduce its
exposure to decreases in the market prices of crude oil and natural
gas. Commodity derivatives utilized as hedges include futures, swap and
option contracts, which are used to hedge crude oil and natural gas
prices. Basis swaps are sometimes used to hedge the basis differential
between the derivative financial instrument index price and the
commodity field price. In order to qualify as a hedge, price movements
in the underlying commodity derivative must be highly correlated with
the hedged commodity. Settlement of gains and losses on price swap
contracts are realized monthly, generally based upon the difference
between the contract price and the average closing New York Mercantile
Exchange ("NYMEX") price and are reported as a component of oil and gas
revenues and operating cash flows in the period realized.

Gains and losses on option and futures contracts that qualify as a
hedge of firmly committed or anticipated purchases and sales of oil and
gas commodities are deferred on the balance sheet and recognized in
income and operating cash flows when the related hedged transaction
occurs. Premiums paid on option contracts are deferred in other assets
and amortized into oil and gas revenues over the terms of the
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respective option contracts. Gains or losses attributable to the
termination of a derivative financial instrument are deferred on the
balance sheet and recognized in revenue when the hedged crude oil and
natural gas are sold. There were no such deferred gains or losses at
June 30, 2000 or December 31, 1999. Gains or losses on derivative
financial instruments that do not qualify as a hedge are recognized in
income currently.

As a result of hedging transactions, o0il and gas revenues were reduced
by $24.8 million and $9.0 million in the second quarter of 2000 and
1999, respectively. For the first six months of 2000 and 1999, oil and
gas revenues were reduced by $51.3 million and $8.8 million,
respectively, as a result of hedging transactions. On February 26,
1999, the Company entered into a swap arrangement with a major
financial institution that effectively converts the interest rate on
$16.4 million notional amount of the 9-1/2% Senior Subordinated Notes
due 2008 ("Notes") to a variable LIBOR-based rate. On February 25,
2000, this arrangement was extended through February 26, 2001. Amounts
paid to enter into these arrangements were insignificant. Based on
LIBOR rates in effect at June 30, 2000, this amounted to a net
reduction in the carrying cost of the Notes from

NUEVO ENERGY COMPANY
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
(UNAUDITED)

9-1/2% to 7.03%, or 247 basis points. In addition, the swap

arrangement also effectively sets the price at which the Company can
repurchase these Notes. For the three and six months ended June 30,
2000, the Company recorded an unrealized gain of $410,000 and an
unrealized loss of $371,000, respectively, related to the change in the
fair value of the Notes. This agreement has an early termination clause
at the discretion of the Company. In July 2000, a portion of this swap
arrangement was settled on a notional amount of $5.0 million of the
Notes. The Company will record a gain of approximately $100,000 as a
result of this settlement.

For 2000, the Company entered into swap contracts on 16,500 barrels of
0oil per day ("BOPD"), at an average West Texas Intermediate ("WTI")
price of $17.94 per barrel. The Company also entered into collars on an
additional 16,500 BOPD, with a floor of $16.00 per barrel and ceiling
of $21.21 per barrel. This production is hedged based on a fixed NYMEX
price. In May 2000, in connection with the sale of certain non-core
California oil and gas properties (see Note 9), the Company unwound the
$21.21 per barrel ceiling on 2,800 BOPD for the period May 2000 through
December 2000. The settlement loss of approximately $3.0 million
related to the unwinding of the ceiling was recognized as an adjustment
to the gain on the sale of the non-core California oil and gas
properties, for which the ceiling was designated as a hedge of
production. The Company re-designated the remaining floors of 2,800
BOPD for the period May 2000 through December 2000, as a hedge of other
California production. Also for the year 2000, the Company has entered
into basis swaps on 3,000 BOPD of its production in the Congo, hedging
the basis differential between No. 6 fuel oil and WTI at an average
differential of $1.88 per barrel. At June 30, 2000, the market value of
the hedge positions was a loss of approximately $50.1 million.

For 2001, the Company has entered into swap arrangements on 26,000 BOPD
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for the first quarter at an average WTI price of $19.52 per barrel, for
the second quarter on 25,000 BOPD at an average WTI price of $19.54 per
barrel, for the third quarter on 20,000 BOPD at an average WTI price of
$21.22 per barrel, and for the fourth quarter on 15,500 BOPD at an
average WTI price of $22.95 per barrel. At June 30, 2000, the market
value of these swaps was a loss of $40.7 million. These agreements
expose the Company to counterparty credit risk to the extent that the
counterparty is unable to meet its settlement commitments to the
Company.

RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

In June 1998, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued
SFAS No. 133, "Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging
Activities". This statement, as amended by SFAS No. 137 and SFAS No.
138, establishes standards of accounting for and disclosures of
derivative instruments and hedging activities. This statement requires
all derivative instruments to be carried on the balance sheet at fair
value and is effective for the Company beginning January 1, 2001. The
Company has not yet determined the impact of this statement on its
financial condition or results of operations.

RECLASSIFICATIONS

Certain reclassifications of prior year amounts have been made to
conform to the current presentation.

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

The Company utilizes the successful efforts method of accounting for
its investments in oil and gas properties. Under successful efforts,
0il and gas lease acquisition costs and intangible drilling costs
associated with exploration efforts that result in the discovery of
proved reserves and costs associated with development drilling, whether
or not successful, are capitalized when incurred. When a proved
property is sold, ceases to produce or is abandoned, a gain or loss is
recognized. When an entire interest in an unproved property is sold for
cash or cash equivalent, gain or loss is recognized, taking into
consideration any recorded impairment. When a partial interest in an
unproved property 1is sold, the amount received is treated as a
reduction of the cost of the interest retained.

Unproved leasehold costs are capitalized pending the results of
exploration efforts. Significant unproved leasehold costs are reviewed
periodically and a loss 1is recognized to the extent, if any, that the
cost of the

NUEVO ENERGY COMPANY
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
(UNAUDITED)

property has been impaired. Exploration costs, including geological and
geophysical expenses, exploratory dry holes and delay rentals, are
charged to expense as incurred.

Costs of productive wells, development dry holes and productive leases
are capitalized and depleted on a unit-of-production basis over the
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life of the remaining proved reserves. Capitalized drilling costs are
depleted on a unit-of-production basis over the life of the remaining
proved developed reserves. Estimated costs (net of salvage value) of
dismantlement, abandonment and site remediation are computed by the
Company's independent reserve engineers and are included when
calculating depreciation and depletion using the unit-of-production
method.

The Company reviews proved oil and gas properties on a depletable unit
basis whenever events or circumstances indicate that the carrying value
of those assets may not be recoverable. For each depletable unit
determined to be impaired, an impairment loss equal to the difference
between the carrying value and the fair value of the depletable unit is
recognized. Fair value, on a depletable unit basis, is estimated to be
the value of the undiscounted expected future net revenues computed by
application of estimated future o0il and gas prices, production and
expenses, as determined by management, to estimated future production
of 0il and gas reserves over the economic life of the reserves. If the
carrying value exceeds the undiscounted future net revenues, an
impairment is recognized equal to the difference between the carrying
value and the discounted estimated future net revenues of that
depletable unit. The Company considers all proved reserves and
commodity pricing based on available market information in its estimate
of future net revenues.

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS

The Company has deferred tax assets, net of valuation allowances, of
$23.0 million and $24.0 million as of June 30, 2000 and December 31,
1999, respectively. The Company believes that sufficient future taxable
income will be generated and has concluded that these net deferred tax
assets will more likely than not be realized.

NUEVO ENERGY COMPANY
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
(UNAUDITED)

INDUSTRY SEGMENT INFORMATION

As of June 30, 2000, the Company's oil and gas exploration and
production operations were concentrated primarily in two geographic
regions: domestically, onshore and offshore California, and
internationally, offshore the Republic of Congo in West Africa (the
"Congo") .

For the Six Months E

(amounts in tho

Sales to unaffiliated customers:
011l and gas — DOMESEIC. .ttt vttt ittt ettt ettt eenneeeenns S 121,354
0il and gas - International...........iiiiiiiineennnnnnens 21,974
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I it = B O
Gain on sale of assets, net.......ciiiiiiienn..

Other revenUEeS . .. .u ittt ittt ettt ettt eeeeeeens

TOLAl FEVENUES e v i ittt it ettt ettt aeeeeeeeeeaeaeeeneens

Operating profit before income taxes:

01l and gas — DOmMESTIC (@) ¢ v vttt i it eeeeeenns
0il and gas - International.............ccoeie...

Unallocated corporate exXpPensSeS. .. .u.u.u et eeeeeeeannns
Interest EXPEM S . ittt it ittt ittt et it e e e e
Dividends on TECONS. ...ttt it ittt ittt ennnnnnens

Income before income taxes........iiiiiiinnennnn.

Depreciation, depletion and amortization:

01l and gas — DOMESTIC. c i ittt ittt e ettt
0il and gas - International.............ccoeeie...
L o

143,328
506
821

Includes an $80.3 million gain on sale of the East Texas gas properties

for the six months ended June 30, 1999.

LONG-TERM DEBT

Long-term debt consists of the following (amounts in thousands) :

9 1/2% Senior Subordinated Notes due 2008.............
9 1/2% Senior Subordinated Notes due 2006.............
Bank credit facility (@) « v v vt iimiin ittt ie et
OPIC credit facility. ..o u it ii ittt eiieeeeannnn

Total debt ...ttt e e et e e e e e
Less: current maturities........ciiiiiiiiiinnnennnnn

Long—term debt ... ...ttt ittt et

Nuevo's Third Restated Credit Agreement dated June 7,
for secured revolving credit availability of up to $410.0 million
(subject to a semi-annual borrowing base determination)
group led by Bank of America, N.A., Bank One,

until its expiration on June 7,

10

June 30,
2000

............... $ 257,310
............... 2,417
............... 103,500

provides

from a bank
and Bank of Montreal,

11
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NUEVO ENERGY COMPANY
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(UNAUDITED)

(CONTINUED)

2005. The borrowing base on the Company's credit facility is subject to
a semi-annual borrowing base determination on March 1 and September 1
of each year, beginning September 1, 2000. The borrowing base at June
30, 2000, was $300.0 million. The Company was in compliance with all
covenants as of June 30, 2000, and does not anticipate any issues of
non-compliance arising in the foreseeable future. At June 30, 2000,
outstanding borrowings under the revolving credit agreement and an
uncommitted line of credit were $103.5 million. Accordingly, $196.5

million of credit capacity was unused and available at June 30, 2000.
EARNINGS PER SHARE COMPUTATION

SFAS No. 128 requires a reconciliation of the numerator (income) and
denominator (shares) of the basic earnings per share ("EPS")

computation to the numerator and denominator of the diluted EPS
computation. In the three-month period ended June 30, 1999, there were
no potential dilutive common shares. The Company's reconciliation is as
follows (amounts in thousands) :

For the Three Months Ended

2000
Income Shares Los
Earnings per Common share — BasicC.........oveeunnn. S 854 17,587 $ (15,
Effect of dilutive securities:
Stock OpPLiIoNS . . ittt e e e e e e e e - 352
Earnings per Common share - Diluted................ $ 854 17,939 $ (15,
For the Six Months Ended
2000
Income Shares Los
Earnings per Common share — BasicC.........oeeennnn. $ 1,499 17,701 s 15
Effect of dilutive securities:
StoCk OPLIoNS . . ittt it e e e e e e e e e - 373
Earnings per Common share - Diluted................ $ 1,499 18,074 s 15

CONTINGENCIES AND OTHER MATTERS

The Company had been named as a defendant in Gloria Garcia Lopez and

12
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Husband, Hector S. Lopez, Individually, and as successors to Galo Land
& Cattle Company v. Mobil Producing Texas & New Mexico, et al. in the
79th Judicial District Court of Brooks County, Texas. On June 9, 2000,
the parties entered into a memorandum of settlement agreement, pursuant
to which the lawsuit would be dismissed (subject to and upon execution
of final settlement documents), the defendants would pay the plaintiffs
$12.0 million and the lease agreement would be amended. Nuevo's working
interest in these properties is 20%, and its share of the settlement
payment is approximately $2.4 million.

The Company has been named as a defendant in certain other lawsuits
incidental to its business. Management does not believe that the
outcome of such litigation will have a material adverse impact on the
Company's operating results or financial condition. However, these
actions and claims in the aggregate seek substantial damages against
the Company and are subject to the inherent uncertainties present in
any litigation. The Company is defending itself vigorously in all such
matters.

In March 1999, the Company discovered that a non-officer employee had
fraudulently authorized and diverted for personal use Company funds
totaling $5.9 million, $1.6 million in 1999 and the remainder in 1998,
that were intended for international exploration. The Board of
Directors engaged a Certified Fraud Examiner to conduct an in-depth
review of the fraudulent transactions. The investigation confirmed that
only one employee was involved in the matter and that all
misappropriated funds were identified. The Company has reviewed and,
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where appropriate, strengthened its internal control procedures. As a
result of ongoing negotiations, the Company is confident that it will
recoup a portion of the loss.

In September 1997, there was a spill of crude oil into the Santa
Barbara Channel from a pipeline that connects the Company's Point
Pedernales field with shore-based processing facilities. The volume of
the spill was estimated to be 163 barrels of oil. The costs of the
clean up and the cost to repair the pipeline either have been or are
expected to be covered by insurance, less the Company's deductibles,
which in total are $120,000. Repairs were completed by the end of 1997,
and production recommenced in December 1997. The Company also has
exposure to costs that may not be recoverable from insurance, including
certain fines, penalties, and damages. Such costs are not quantifiable
at this time, but are not expected to be material to the Company's
operating results, financial condition or liquidity.

The Company's international investments involve risks typically
associated with investments in emerging markets such as an uncertain
political, economic, legal and tax environment and expropriation and
nationalization of assets. In addition, if a dispute arises in its
foreign operations, the Company may be subject to the exclusive
jurisdiction of foreign courts or may not be successful in subjecting
foreign persons to the jurisdiction of the United States. The Company
attempts to conduct its business and financial affairs so as to protect
against political and economic risks applicable to operations in the
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various countries where it operates, but there can be no assurance that
the Company will be successful in so protecting itself. A portion of
the Company's investment in the Republic of Congo in West Africa
("Congo") 1is insured through political risk insurance provided by the
Overseas Private Investment Corporation ("OPIC"). The political risk
insurance through OPIC covers up to $25.0 million relating to
expropriation and political violence, which is the maximum coverage
available through OPIC. The Company has no deductible for this
insurance. The Company will consider its options for political risk
insurance in the Republic of Ghana in West Africa ("Ghana") as it
evaluates business opportunities.

In connection with their respective February 1995 acquisitions of two
subsidiaries owning interests in the Yombo field offshore West Africa
(each a "Congo subsidiary"), the Company and a wholly-owned subsidiary
of CMS NOMECO 0il & Gas Co. ("CMS") agreed with the seller not to claim
certain tax losses incurred by such subsidiaries prior to the
acquisitions. Under the tax law in the Congo, as it existed when this
acquisition took place, if an entity is acquired in its entirety and
that entity has certain tax attributes, for example tax loss
carryforwards from operations in the Republic of Congo, the subsequent
owners of that entity can continue to utilize those losses without
restriction. Pursuant to the agreement, the Company and CMS may be
liable to the seller for the recapture of these tax losses utilized by
the seller in years prior to the acquisitions if certain triggering
events occur. A triggering event will not occur if a subsequent
purchaser enters into certain agreements specified in the consolidated
return regulations intended to ensure that such losses will not be
claimed. The only time limit associated with the occurrence of a
triggering event relates to the utilization of a dual consolidated loss
in a foreign jurisdiction. A dual consolidated loss that is utilized to
offset income in a foreign jurisdiction is only subject to recapture
for 15 years following the year in which the dual consolidated loss was
incurred for US income tax purposes. The Company's potential direct
liability could be as much as $48.5 million if a triggering event with
respect to the Company occurs. Additionally, the Company believes that
CMS's liability (for which the Company would be jointly liable with an
indemnification right against CMS) could be as much as $64.1 million.
The Company does not expect a triggering event to occur with respect to
it or CMS and does not believe the agreement will have a material
adverse effect upon the Company.

CONTINGENT PAYMENT AND PRICE SHARING AGREEMENTS

In connection with the acquisition from Unocal in 1996 of the
properties located in California, the Company is obligated to make a
contingent payment for the years 1998 through 2004 if oil prices exceed
thresholds set forth in the agreement with Unocal. Any contingent
payment will be accounted for as a purchase price adjustment to oil and
gas properties. The contingent payment will equal 50% of the difference
between the actual average annual price received on a field-by-field
basis (capped by a maximum price) and a minimum price, less ad valorem
and production taxes, multiplied by the actual number of barrels of oil
sold that are produced from the properties acquired from Unocal during
the respective year. The minimum price of $17.75
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per Bbl. under the agreement (determined based on near month of
delivery of WTI crude oil on the NYMEX) is escalated at 3% per year and
the maximum price of $21.75 per Bbl. on the NYMEX is escalated at 3%
per year. Minimum and maximum prices are reduced to reflect the field
level price by subtracting a fixed differential established for each
field. The reduction was established at approximately the differential
between actual sales prices and NYMEX prices in effect in 1995 ($4.34
per Bbl. weighted average for all the properties acquired from Unocal) .
The Company accumulates credits to offset the contingent payment when
prices are $.50 per Bbl. or more below the minimum price. The Company
computes this calculation annually and had accumulated $30.8 million in
price credits as of December 31, 1999, which will be used to reduce
future amounts owed under the contingent payment. The Company expects
that it will still have an accumulated credit balance at the end of
2000 to offset future payments under this agreement. A continuation of
higher than normal oil price realizations would, however, trigger
payments under this agreement beginning in March of 2002.

In connection with the acquisition of the Congo properties in 1995, the
Company entered into a price sharing agreement with the seller. Under
the terms of the agreement, if the average price received for the oil
production during the year is greater than the benchmark price
established by the agreement, then the Company is obligated to pay the
seller 50% of the difference between the benchmark price and the actual
price received, for all the barrels associated with this acquisition.
The benchmark price for 2000 is $15.19 per Bbl. The benchmark price
increases each year based on the increase in the Consumer Price Index.
For 2000, the effect of this agreement is that Nuevo is entitled to
receive the pricing upside above $15.19 per Bbl. on approximately 56%
of its Congo production.

The Company acquired a 12% working interest in the Point Pedernales oil
field from Unocal in 1994 and the remainder of its interest in this
field from Torch Energy Advisors Inc. ("Torch") in 1996. The Company is
entitled to all revenue proceeds up to $9.00 per Bbl., with the excess
over $9.00 per Bbl., if any, shared among the Company and the original
owners from whom Torch acquired its interest. For 2000, the effect of
this agreement is that Nuevo is entitled to receive the pricing upside
above $9.00 per Bbl. on approximately 34% of its net Point Pedernales
production.

DIVESTITURES

In May 2000, the Company sold its working interest in the Las Cienegas
field in California for proceeds of approximately $4.6 million. The
Company reclassified these assets to assets held for sale during the
third quarter of 1999, at which time it discontinued depleting and
depreciating these assets. No impairment charge was recorded upon
reclassification to assets held for sale. In connection with this sale,
the Company unwound hedges of 2,800 BOPD for the period May 2000
through December 2000 (see Note 1) and recorded a net gain on sale of
approximately $740,000.

SHARE REPURCHASES

In August 1999, the Company implemented a share repurchase program,
pursuant to the Board of Directors' authorizations to repurchase up to
a total of 3,616,600 shares at times and at prices deemed attractive by
management. As of June 30, 2000, the Company had repurchased 2,660,600
shares of its common stock in open market transactions at an average
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purchase price, including commissions, of $16.79 per share.
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ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL
CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS

This document includes "forward looking statements" within the meaning
of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the
"Securities Act"), and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934 ("Exchange Act"). All statements other than statements of
historical facts included in this document, including without
limitation, statements under "Management's Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations" regarding the Company's
financial position, estimated quantities and net present values of
reserves, business strategy, plans and objectives of management of the
Company for future operations and covenant compliance, are
forward-looking statements. Although the Company believes that the
assumptions upon which such forward-looking statements are based are
reasonable, it can give no assurances that such assumptions will prove
to have been correct. Important factors that could cause actual results
to differ materially from the Company's expectations ("Cautionary
Statements") are disclosed below and elsewhere in this document and in
the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K and other filings made with
the Securities and Exchange Commission. All subsequent written and oral
forward-looking statements attributable to the Company or persons
acting on its behalf are expressly qualified by the Cautionary
Statements.

CAPITAL RESOURCES AND LIQUIDITY

Since inception, the Company has expanded its operations through a
series of disciplined, low-cost acquisitions of oil and gas properties
and the subsequent exploitation and development of these properties.
The Company has complemented these efforts with strategic divestitures
and an opportunistic exploration program, which provides exposure to
prospects that have the potential to add substantially to the growth of
the Company. The funding of these activities has historically been
provided by operating cash flows, bank financing, private and public
placements of debt and equity securities, property divestitures and
joint ventures with industry participants. Net cash provided by (used
in) operating activities was $36.3 million and $(13.2) million for the
six months ended June 30, 2000 and 1999, respectively. The Company
invested $43.6 million and $35.5 million in oil and gas properties for
the six months ended June 30, 2000 and 1999, respectively.

The current borrowing base on the Company's credit facility is $300.0
million. At June 30, 2000, outstanding borrowings under the revolving
credit agreement and an uncommitted line of credit were $103.5 million.
Accordingly, $196.5 million of credit capacity was unused and available
at June 30, 2000. At June 30, 2000, the Company had working capital of
$8.3 million.

On June 7, 2000, the Company entered into its Third Restated Credit
Agreement, which provides for secured revolving credit availability of
up to $410.0 million (subject to a semi-annual borrowing base
determination) from a bank group led by Bank of America, N.A., Bank
One, NA, and Bank of Montreal, until its expiration on June 7, 2005.
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The borrowing base on the Company's credit facility is subject to a
semi-annual borrowing base determination on March 1 and September 1 of
each year, beginning September 1, 2000. The borrowing base at June 30,
2000, was $300.0 million. The Company was in compliance with all
covenants as of June 30, 2000, and does not anticipate any issues of
non-compliance arising in the foreseeable future. Subsequent
semi-annual borrowing base redeterminations will require the consent of
banks holding 60% of the total facility commitments, while an increase
in the borrowing base will require the consent of banks holding 66 2/3%
of the total facility commitments.

In July 2000, the Company announced that it no longer expects that its
Brea Highlands residential development will receive entitlement from
the City of Brea, California by the end of 2000. The Company had
planned to sell or joint venture this property upon completion of the
entitlement process. This expected delay results from a political
initiative that, if passed, will subject certain future development
projects, such as Brea Highlands, to a public vote. Because of this
delay, the Company plans to defer $20.0 million of its $140.0 million
2000 capital budget. The revised 2000 capital budget of $120.0 million
is designed to preserve the Company's financial condition and
liquidity.

The Company believes its cash flow from operations and available
financing sources are sufficient to meet its obligations as they become
due and to finance its exploration and development programs.
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CAPITAL EXPENDITURES

As mentioned above, the Company plans to defer $20.0 million of its
$140.0 million 2000 capital budget, as a result of expected delays in
the potential sale or joint venture of a real estate development. Under
the revised 2000 capital budget of $120.0 million, the Company
anticipates spending approximately $58.0 million on development
activities and approximately $15.0 million on exploration activities
and business development projects during the remainder of the year.

Exploration and development expenditures, including amounts expensed

under the successful efforts method, for the first six months of 2000
and 1999 are as follows (amounts in thousands) :

For the Six Months Ended

June 30,
2000 1999
Domestic S 44,063 S 17,274
International 4,515 19,421
Total $ 48,578 S 36,695
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The following is a description of significant exploration and
development activity during the first six months of 2000.

Exploration Activity

Domestic
There was no significant activity during the first half of 2000.

International

On February 16 2000, the Company completed its acquisition and
processing of a 3-D seismic survey across the Eastern portion of its
Accra—-Keta concession offshore the Republic of Ghana in West Africa
("Ghana") . The Company's costs of the 3-D seismic survey acquisition
and processing were approximately $3.0 million. This survey extends
from the outer shelf, across the slope, and into the deepwater regions
of the block. The Company currently plans to drill its first
exploratory well on the concession late this year. Estimated costs to
drill this well are approximately $12.5 million, on a gross basis.

In June 2000, the Company acquired interests in two exploration permits
in the Republic of Tunisia, North Africa, that add 1.3 million acres to
the Company's international portfolio. The first of these permits is
the 171,000-acre Alyane Permit located offshore Tunisia in the Gulf of
Gabes. The Company will own a 100% participating interest and act as
operator of the block.

The Convention and Joint Venture Agreement for the Alyane Permit call
for an initial term of four years, followed by two optional three-year
terms. Nuevo's work commitment requires shooting 3-D seismic and
drilling one exploratory well on the Alyane Permit in the initial term.
The Company's anticipated costs under this commitment are approximately
$9.0 million. The Company plans to explore the Alyane Permit
aggressively and will acquire 3-D seismic data in mid 2001 with the aim
of drilling its first exploratory well in 2002. Nuevo anticipates
formal government approval of the Convention and Joint Venture
Agreement in the first quarter of 2001.

Effective April 1, 2000, Nuevo acquired a 10.42% participating interest
from Bligh Tunisia Inc. in the l1.1-million-acre Anaguid Permit located
onshore southern Tunisia in the Ghadames Basin for approximately $1.5
million. Operated by Anadarko Petroleum Company, this permit is on
trend with Anadarko's prolific Hassi Berkine complex located to the
west in Algeria. Under the current work commitment, the partners must
drill one exploration well on the Anaguid Permit by December 2001. The
Company's anticipated costs under this
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commitment are approximately $1.3 million. In addition, the partners will
reprocess all existing seismic data and acquire new 2-D seismic data
during 2000. Following the expiration of the current work commitment term
in December 2001, the final renewal phase requires the drilling of one
exploration well on the Anaguid Permit during the 2 1/2-year term. Nuevo
expects to receive government approval of this acquisition in the first
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quarter of 2001.

In addition to acquiring its interests in the Anaguid and Alyane Permits,
Nuevo has, effective April 1, 2000, increased its existing 17.5%
participating interest in the 900,000-acre Fejaj Permit onshore Tunisia
by acquiring an additional 20% participating interest from Bligh Tunisia
Inc. Nuevo and its partners plan to re-enter and deepen the Chott Fejaj
#3 well on the Fejaj Permit to test a sub-salt prospect. The Company's
anticipated costs under this commitment are approximately $750,000. The
current term of the Fejaj Permit expires in April 2001, but a one-year
extension is being sought. The Chott Fejaj #3 well was drilled initially
to the top of salt in 1998.

Development Activity

Domestic

The Company drilled a total of 103 development wells in the first half of
2000, most of which relate to the interests acquired from Texaco in 1999.
The Company completed the first phase of its development-drilling program
on its Cymric lease acquired from Texaco, which included drilling 40
wells. The Company began the second phase of this development program in
June 2000, which includes drilling an additional 60 wells. The Company
expects this program to be completed by the end of first quarter 2001.
The wells drilled to date are currently producing at a combined rate of
3,000 barrels of o0il per day ("BOPD"). In total, the Company drilled 54
wells on its Cymric lease (four of which were horizontal wells), 17 wells
on its Belridge lease (seven of which were horizontal wells), and 29
wells at Midway Sunset. Additionally, 49 injectors have been drilled to
support the production from these fields. In addition to the development
activity at Cymric, the Company successfully drilled two offshore wells
at its Huntington Beach property. These two wells have been completed and
are producing 350 BOPD.

A significant facility expansion is underway at the Brea Olinda field.
The Company had flared approximately 2.5 MMCF of natural gas per day, due
to the lack of a gas market. In the second quarter of 2000, the Company
completed the installation of its first self-generation unit, which
utilizes the gas and converts it to electricity to supply all of the
field electrical needs as well as provides excess electricity for sale.
The completion of the self-generation project cost approximately $4.5
million and should result in significant cost savings of approximately
$450,000 per year plus an additional $1.7 million per year in electricity
sales for the Brea Olinda property. A second unit should be installed and
online by year-end 2000. Also, the Company is currently constructing a
water plant at its Cymric Field that will provide a long-term source of
water to be used in the Company's steam operations and help reduce
expenses in the long-term. The water plant is expected to cost
approximately $6.2 million to construct.

International
There was no significant activity during the first half of 2000.

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Company utilizes derivative financial instruments to reduce its
exposure to decreases in the market prices of crude o0il and natural gas.
Commodity derivatives utilized as hedges include futures, swap and option
contracts, which are used to hedge crude oil and natural gas prices.
Basis swaps are sometimes used to hedge the basis differential between
the derivative financial instrument index price and the commodity field
price. In order to qualify as a hedge, price movements in the underlying
commodity derivative must be highly correlated with the hedged commodity.
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Settlement of gains and losses on price swap contracts are realized
monthly, generally based upon the difference between the contract price
and the average closing New York Mercantile Exchange ("NYMEX") price and
are reported as a component of oil and gas revenues and operating cash
flows in the period realized.
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Gains and losses on option and futures contracts that qualify as a hedge
of firmly committed or anticipated purchases and sales of oil and gas
commodities are deferred on the balance sheet and recognized in income
and operating cash flows when the related hedged transaction occurs.
Premiums paid on option contracts are deferred in other assets and
amortized into oil and gas revenues over the terms of the respective
option contracts. Gains or losses attributable to the termination of a
derivative financial instrument are deferred on the balance sheet and
recognized in revenue when the hedged crude o0il and natural gas are sold.
There were no such deferred gains or losses at June 30, 2000 or December
31, 1999. Gains or losses on derivative financial instruments that do not
qualify as a hedge are recognized in income currently.

As a result of hedging transactions, o0il and gas revenues were reduced by
$24.8 million and $9.0 million in the second quarter of 2000 and 1999,
respectively. For the first six months of 2000 and 1999, oil and gas
revenues were reduced by $51.3 million and $8.8 million, respectively, as
a result of hedging transactions.

On February 26, 1999, the Company entered into a swap arrangement with a
major financial institution that effectively converts the interest rate
on $16.4 million notional amount of the 9-1/2 % Senior Subordinated Notes
due 2008 ("Notes") to a variable LIBOR-based rate. On February 25, 2000,
this arrangement was extended through February 26, 2001. Amounts paid to
enter into these arrangements were insignificant. Based on LIBOR rates in
effect at June 30, 2000, this amounted to a net reduction in the carrying
cost of the Notes from 9-1/2 % to 7.03%, or 247 basis points. In
addition, the swap arrangement also effectively sets the price at which
the Company can repurchase these Notes. For the three and six months
ended June 30, 2000, the Company recorded an unrealized gain of $410,000
and an unrealized loss of $371,000, respectively, related to the change
in the fair value of the Notes. This agreement has an early termination
clause at the discretion of the Company. In July 2000, a portion of this
swap arrangement was settled on a notional amount of $5.0 million of the
Notes. The Company will record a gain of approximately $100,000 as a
result of this settlement.

For 2000, the Company entered into swap contracts on 16,500 barrels of
0il per day ("BOPD"), at an average West Texas Intermediate ("WTI") price
of $17.94 per barrel. The Company also entered into collars on an
additional 16,500 BOPD, with a floor of $16.00 per barrel and ceiling of
$21.21 per barrel. This production is hedged based on a fixed NYMEX
price. In May 2000, in connection with the sale of certain non-core
California oil and gas properties (see Note 9), the Company unwound the
$21.21 per barrel ceiling on 2,800 BOPD for the period May 2000 through
December 2000. The settlement loss of approximately $3.0 million related
to the unwinding of the ceiling was recognized as an adjustment to the
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gain on the sale of the non-core California oil and gas properties, for
which the ceiling was designated as a hedge of production. The Company
re-designated the remaining floors of 2,800 BOPD for the period May 2000
through December 2000, as a hedge of other California production. Also
for the year 2000, the Company has entered into basis swaps on 3,000 BOPD
of its production in the Congo, hedging the basis differential between
No. 6 fuel oil and WTI at an average differential of $1.88 per barrel. At
June 30, 2000, the market value of the hedge positions was a loss of
approximately $50.1 million.

For 2001, the Company has entered into swap arrangements on 26,000 BOPD
for the first quarter at an average WTI price of $19.52 per barrel, for
the second quarter on 25,000 BOPD at an average WTI price of $19.54 per
barrel, for the third quarter on 20,000 BOPD at an average WTI price of
$21.22 per barrel, and for the fourth quarter on 15,500 BOPD at an
average WII price of $22.95 per barrel. At June 30, 2000, the market
value of these swaps was a loss of $40.7 million. These agreements expose
the Company to counterparty credit risk to the extent that the
counterparty is unable to meet its settlement commitments to the Company.

CONTINGENT PAYMENT AND PRICE SHARING AGREEMENTS

In connection with the acquisition from Unocal in 1996 of the properties
located in California, the Company is obligated to make a contingent
payment for the years 1998 through 2004 if oil prices exceed thresholds
set forth in the agreement with Unocal. Any contingent payment will be
accounted for as a purchase price adjustment to oil and gas properties.
The contingent payment will equal 50% of the difference between the
actual average annual price received on a field-by-field basis (capped by
a maximum price) and a minimum
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price, less ad valorem and production taxes, multiplied by the actual
number of barrels of o0il sold that are produced from the properties
acquired from Unocal during the respective year. The minimum price of
$17.75 per Bbl. under the agreement (determined based on near month of
delivery of WTI crude oil on the NYMEX) is escalated at 3% per year and
the maximum price of $21.75 per Bbl. on the NYMEX is escalated at 3% per
year. Minimum and maximum prices are reduced to reflect the field level
price by subtracting a fixed differential established for each field. The
reduction was established at approximately the differential between
actual sales prices and NYMEX prices in effect in 1995 ($4.34 per Bbl.
weighted average for all the properties acquired from Unocal). The
Company accumulates credits to offset the contingent payment when prices
are $.50 per Bbl. or more below the minimum price. The Company computes
this calculation annually and had accumulated $30.8 million in price
credits as of December 31, 1999, which will be used to reduce future
amounts owed under the contingent payment. The Company expects that it
will still have an accumulated credit balance at the end of 2000 to
offset future payments under this agreement. A continuation of higher
than normal oil price realizations would, however, trigger payments under
this agreement beginning in March of 2002.

In connection with the acquisition of the Congo properties in 1995, the

Company entered into a price sharing agreement with the seller. Under the
terms of the agreement, if the average price received for the oil
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production during the year is greater than the benchmark price
established by the agreement, then the Company is obligated to pay the
seller 50% of the difference between the benchmark price and the actual
price received, for all the barrels associated with this acquisition. The
benchmark price for 2000 is $15.19 per Bbl. The benchmark price increases
each year based on the increase in the Consumer Price Index. For 2000,
the effect of this agreement is that Nuevo is entitled to receive the
pricing upside above $15.19 per Bbl. on approximately 56% of its Congo
production.

The Company acquired a 12% working interest in the Point Pedernales oil
field from Unocal in 1994 and the remainder of its interest in this field
from Torch Energy Advisors Inc. ("Torch") in 1996. The Company is
entitled to all revenue proceeds up to $9.00 per Bbl., with the excess
over $9.00 per Bbl., if any, shared among the Company and the original
owners from whom Torch acquired its interest. For 2000, the effect of
this agreement is that Nuevo is entitled to receive the pricing upside
above $9.00 per Bbl. on approximately 34% of its net Point Pedernales
production.

RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

In June 1998, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued
SFAS No. 133, "Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging
Activities". This statement, as amended by SFAS No. 137 and SFAS No. 138,
establishes standards of accounting for and disclosures of derivative
instruments and hedging activities. This statement requires all
derivative instruments to be carried on the balance sheet at fair value
and is effective for the Company beginning January 1, 2001. The Company
has not yet determined the impact of this statement on its financial
condition or results of operations.

SHARE REPURCHASES

In August 1999, the Company implemented a share repurchase program,
pursuant to the Board of Directors' authorizations to repurchase up to a
total of 3,616,600 shares at times and at prices deemed attractive by
management. As of June 30, 2000, the Company has repurchased 2,660,600
shares of its common stock in open market transactions at an average
purchase price, including commissions, of $16.79 per share.

DEFERRED INCOME TAXES

The Company has deferred tax assets, net of valuation allowances, of
$23.0 million and $24.0 million as of June 30, 2000 and December 31,
1999, respectively. The Company believes that sufficient future taxable
income will be generated and has concluded that these net deferred tax
assets will more likely than not be realized.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (THREE MONTHS ENDED JUNE 30, 2000 AND 1999)

The following table sets forth certain operating information of the
Company (inclusive of the effect of crude oil and natural gas hedging) for the
periods presented:
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Three Months
Ended June 30,

2000
PRODUCTION:
0il and condensate — Domestic (MBBL.S) v it it it eeeenennnnenn 3,640
0il and condensate — International (MBBL.S) ... uenwunnnn. 477
0il and condensate — Total (MBBL.S) v ittt ittt eeeeeenennnn 4,117
Natural gas — Domestic (MMCE) .. i vttt i i ittt eeeieeeeeens 3,816
Natural gas liquids - Domestic (MMCFE) ... iii it iiennnnnnnn. 44
Equivalent barrels of production - Domestic (MBOE)........ 4,320
Equivalent barrels of production - International (MBOE)... 477
Equivalent barrels of production - Total (MBOE)........... 4,797
AVERAGE SALES PRICE:
0il and condensate — DoOmMESTiC. .. ittt ittt eenenenns $13.12
0il and condensate - International..............ceuiieenen.. $22.63
0il and condensate — Total. ... iiiii ittt eeeeeennneeennns $14.23
Natural gas — DOmMEeSTiC. . i i ittt ittt ittt ettt teeeeennnans $ 3.43
LEASE OPERATING EXPENSE:
Average unit production cost (l) per BOE - Domestic........ $ 7.12
Average unit production cost (l) per BOE - International... S 7.37
Average unit production cost(l) per BOE - Total........... $ 7.14
(1) Costs incurred to operate and maintain wells and related equipment

and facilities, including ad valorem and severance taxes.

Revenues
0il and Gas Revenues:
0il and gas revenues for the three months ended June 30,

million, or 37% higher than oil and gas revenues for the
This increase is primarily due to a 40% increase in reali

2000, were $72.6
same period in 1999.
zed oil prices and a

79% increase in realized gas prices. These increases were partially offset by a
decrease in production, which was primarily attributable to asset sales,
production interruptions due to pump replacements and power shortages
(brown-outs) in California during recent periods of extreme temperatures, and

reduced capital spending in 1999. Second quarter 2000 oil

price realizations

reflect hedging losses of $24.8 million, or $6.03 per barrel.

Domestic: 0Oil and gas revenues for the three months ended June 30, 2000, were

35% higher than oil and gas revenues for the same period

in 1999. This increase

is primarily due to a 38% improvement in average realized oil prices and a 79%
improvement in average realized gas prices, partially offset by a 5% decrease in

total production. The Company experienced several product

ion interruptions in

the second quarter of 2000 as a result of pump replacements and brown-outs in

California during recent periods of extreme temperatures.

The realized oil price
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NUEVO ENERGY COMPANY
MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL
CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (CONTINUED)

$13.12 per barrel for the second quarter of 2000 includes negative hedging
results of $7.01 per barrel of o0il, compared to negative hedging results of
$2.51 per barrel of oil for the second quarter of 1999.

International: 0Oil revenues for the three months ended June 30, 2000, increased
49% as compared to the same period in 1999. This increase resulted from a 44%
increase in o0il price realizations to $22.63 per barrel, coupled with a 4%
increase in oil production. The realized oil price for the second quarter of
2000 includes hedging gains of $1.44 per barrel of oil, compared to hedging
gains of $1.39 per barrel in the second quarter of 1999.

Gain on Sale of Assets, net:

The net gain on sale of assets for the three months ended June 30, 2000, was
$366,000, primarily representing a gain on the sale of certain non-core
California properties (see Note 9 to the Notes to Condensed Consolidated
Financial Statements). Gain on sale of assets, net, for the three months ended
June 30, 1999, was $(1.4) million, representing a negative revision for final
accounting adjustments in connection with the Company's sale of its East Texas
natural gas properties in January 1999.

Interest and Other Income:

Interest and other income for the three months ended June 30, 2000, is comprised
of several individually insignificant items. Interest and other income for the
three months ended June 30, 1999, includes $1.1 million associated with interest
earned on an escrow account for the $100.0 million representing a portion of the
proceeds from the sale of the East Texas natural gas properties, as well as
several individually insignificant items.

Expenses
Lease Operating Expenses:

Lease operating expenses for the three months ended June 30, 2000, were $34.3
million, or 13% higher than for the three months ended June 30, 1999. Lease
operating expenses per barrel of oil equivalent ("BOE") were $7.14 in the second
quarter of 2000, compared to $6.02 in the same period in 1999. The increase is
primarily due to a $4.3 million increase in steam costs resulting from higher
natural gas prices, as well as lower production.

Domestic: Lease operating expenses per BOE were $7.12 in the second quarter of
2000, compared to $5.90 in the same period in 1999. Higher steam costs and
decreased production contributed to the higher lease operating expenses per BOE
quarter over quarter.

Exploration Costs:
Exploration costs, including geological and geophysical ("G&G") costs, dry hole
costs, delay rentals and expensed project costs, were $1.5 million and $7.9

million for the three months ended June 30, 2000 and 1999, respectively. For the
three months ended June 30, 2000, exploration costs were comprised of $0.6
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million in G&G (primarily for consulting costs and 3-D seismic processing in the
Accra-Keta prospect offshore Ghana), $0.1 million in dry hole costs, $0.2
million in delay rentals, and $0.6 million of other project costs. For the three
months ended June 30, 1999, exploration costs were comprised of $6.5 million of
dry hole costs (for the Cree Fee 1A well on the Midway Peak prospect in
California), $0.7 million in G&G, $0.1 million in delay rentals and $0.6 million
of other project costs.

Depreciation, Depletion and Amortization:

Depreciation, depletion and amortization for the three months ended June 30,
2000, reflects a 32% decrease from the same period in 1999. This decrease was
driven by a lower depletion rate, which primarily resulted from a significant
increase in reserve estimates attributable to higher commodity prices at
year—-end 1999 versus year-end 1998.
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NUEVO ENERGY COMPANY
MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL
CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (CONTINUED)

General and Administrative Expenses:

General and administrative expenses were $4.1 million and $3.4 million in the
three months ended June 30, 2000 and 1999, respectively. The 22% increase is due
primarily to a $0.9 million increase in bonus accruals, as bonuses were not
projected or accrued in the second quarter of 1999, offset by a $0.4 million
decrease in the fair market value of securities in the Company's deferred
compensation plan. The remaining increase is made up of individually
insignificant items.

Other Expense:

The $2.2 million increase in other expense from the second gquarter of 1999 to
the second quarter of 2000 is primarily due to a $2.0 million accrual for a
lawsuit settlement (see Note 7 to the Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial
Statements) and $0.7 million in costs to evaluate potential business
transactions. This increase was partially offset by a positive mark to market
adjustment of $0.4 million related to the Company's liability management swap
(see Note 1 to the Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements) in the
second quarter of 2000.

Net Income (Loss)

Net income of $854,000, $0.05 per common share - basic and diluted, was reported
for the three months ended June 30, 2000, as compared to a net loss of $15.6
million, $0.78 per common share - basic and diluted, reported for the same
period in 1999.
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NUEVO ENERGY COMPANY
MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL
CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (CONTINUED)

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (SIX MONTHS ENDED JUNE 30, 2000 AND 1999)

The following table sets forth certain operating information of the Company
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(inclusive of the effect of crude oil and natural gas hedging) for the periods
presented:

Six Month

S

Ended June 30,

2000
PRODUCTION:
0il and condensate — Domestic (MBBL.S) c vt ittt eeeeeenennenn 7,353
0il and condensate — International (MBBL.S) ... ewunennn. 978
0il and condensate — Total (MBBL.S) v it ittt ittt eeeeeenenens 8,331
Natural gas — Domestic (MMCE) .. i vttt it i ittt teeeeeennens 7,811
Natural gas liquids - Domestic (MMCFE) ... iii it iiennnnnnnnn 85
Equivalent barrels of production - Domestic (MBOE)........ 8,741
Equivalent barrels of production - International (MBOE)... 978
Equivalent barrels of production - Total (MBOE)........... 9,719
AVERAGE SALES PRICE:
0Oil and condensate — DOmMESTIiC. .. ittt ittt ittt eenennnns $13.13
0il and condensate — International..............ceiieenen.. $22.47
0il and condensate — Total. ...t iiiiii ettt eeeeeenneeeennns $14.22
Natural gas — DOmMEeSTiC. . i i i ittt ittt ittt ettt eeennnans $ 2.91
LEASE OPERATING EXPENSE:
Average unit production cost (l) per BOE - Domestic........ S 6.69
Average unit production cost (l) per BOE - International... $ 7.02
Average unit production cost(l) per BOE - Total........... S 6.73
(1) Costs incurred to operate and maintain wells and related equipment and

facilities, including ad valorem and severance taxes.
Revenues
0il and Gas Revenues:

0il and gas revenues for the six months ended June 30, 2000, were $143.3
million, or 49% higher than oil and gas revenues for the same period in 1999.
This increase 1s primarily due to a 57% increase in realized oil prices and a
56% increase in realized gas prices. These increases were partially offset by a
decrease in production, which was primarily attributable to asset sales,
production interruptions due to pump replacements and brown-outs in California
during recent periods of extreme temperatures, and reduced capital spending in
1999. First half 2000 oil price realizations reflect hedging losses of $51.3
million, or $6.16 per barrel, compared to hedging losses of $8.8 million, or
$1.01 per barrel in the first half of 1999.

Domestic: 0Oil and gas revenues for the six months ended June 30, 2000, were 42%
higher than oil and gas revenues for the same period in 1999. This increase is
primarily due to an 80% improvement in average realized oil prices and a 56%
improvement in average realized gas prices, partially offset by a 6% decrease in
total production as a result of asset sales, reduced capital spending in 1999
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and production interruptions due to pump replacements and brown-outs
22
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NUEVO ENERGY COMPANY
MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL
CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (CONTINUED)

in California during recent periods of extreme temperatures. The realized oil
price of $13.13 per barrel for the first half of 2000 includes negative hedging
results of $53.4 million, or $7.26 per barrel of oil, compared to hedging losses
of $9.6 million, or $1.23 per barrel in the first half of 1999.

International: 0Oil revenues for the six months ended June 30, 2000, more than
doubled as compared to the same period in 1999. This significant increase
resulted from a 75% increase in oil price realizations to $22.47 per barrel,
coupled with a 15% increase in oil production. The realized oil price for the
first half of 2000 includes hedging gains of $2.08 per barrel of oil, compared
to hedging gains of $0.98 per barrel in the first half of 1999.

Gain on Sale of Assets, net:

Gain on sale of assets for the six months ended June 30, 2000, was $506,000,
primarily representing a gain on the sale of certain non-core California
properties (see Note 9 to the Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial
Statements). Gain on sale of assets for the six months ended June 30, 1999, was
$80.3 million, resulting from the Company's sale of its East Texas natural gas
properties in January 1999.

Interest and Other Income:

Interest and other income for the six months ended June 30, 2000, is comprised
of several individually insignificant items. Interest and other income for the
six months ended June 30, 1999, includes $2.4 million associated with interest
earned on an escrow account for the $100.0 million representing a portion of the
proceeds from the sale of the East Texas natural gas properties, as well as
several individually insignificant items.

Expenses
Lease Operating Expenses:

Lease operating expenses for the six months ended June 30, 2000, were $65.4
million, or 9% higher than for the six months ended June 30, 1999. This increase
is primarily due to a $7.0 million increase in steam costs resulting from higher
natural gas prices, partially offset by a decrease in other field costs. Lease
operating expenses per BOE were $6.73 in the first half of 2000, compared to
$5.95 in the same period in 1999. The per barrel increase is primarily due to a
$0.66 per BOE increase in steam costs, as well as the 4% decrease in total
production.

Domestic: Lease operating expenses per BOE were $6.69 in the first half of 2000,
compared to $5.81 in the same period in 1999. Higher steam costs accounted for
$0.85 of the per BOE increase, year over year. The remaining increase is
attributable to the 4% decrease in production.

International: Lease operating expenses per BOE were $7.02 in the first half of
2000, compared to $7.44 in the same period in 1999. The decrease in lease
operating expenses per BOE is primarily attributable to the 15% increase in
production.
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Exploration Costs:

Exploration costs, including G&G costs, dry hole costs, delay rentals and
expensed project costs, were $4.7 million and $10.0 million for the six months
ended June 30, 2000 and 1999, respectively. For the six months ended June 30,
2000, exploration costs were comprised of $3.8 million in G&G (primarily for 3-D
seismic acquisition and processing in the Accra-Keta prospect offshore Ghana),
$0.1 million in dry hole costs, $0.2 million in delay rentals, and $0.6 million
of other project costs. For the six months ended June 30, 1999, exploration
costs were comprised of $7.3 million of dry hole costs (for the Cree Fee 1A well
on the Midway Peak prospect in California), $1.5 million in G&G, $0.3 million in
delay rentals and $0.9 million of other project costs.
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL
CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (CONTINUED)

Depreciation, Depletion and Amortization:

Depreciation, depletion and amortization for the six months ended June 30, 2000,
reflects a 31% decrease from the same period in 1999. This decrease was driven
by a lower depletion rate, which primarily resulted from a significant increase
in reserve estimates attributable to higher commodity prices at year-end 1999
versus year-end 1998.

General and Administrative Expenses:

General and administrative expenses were $9.5 million and $7.2 million for the
six months ended June 30, 2000 and 1999, respectively. The 32% increase is due
primarily to a $1.6 million increase in bonus accruals, as bonuses were not
projected or accrued in the first half of 1999. The remaining increase is made
up of individually insignificant items.

Interest Expense:

Interest expense of $16.8 million for the six months ended June 30, 2000,
increased only slightly as compared to interest expense in the same period in
1999. The increase is primarily attributable to higher interest rates as the
Company exchanged its 8 7/8% Senior Subordinated Notes for 9 1/2% Senior
Subordinated Notes due 2008 in the third quarter of 1999.

Other Expense:

The 29% increase in other expense from the first half of 1999 to the first half
of 2000 is primarily due to a $2.0 million accrual for a lawsuit settlement (see
Note 7 to the Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements) and $0.7
million in costs to evaluate potential business transactions. This increase also
includes a negative mark to market adjustment of $0.4 million related to the
Company's liability management swap (see Note 1 to the Notes to Condensed
Consolidated Financial Statements) in the first half of 2000. Offsetting this
increase, in March 1999, the Company discovered that a non-officer employee had
fraudulently authorized and diverted for personal use Company funds totaling
$5.9 million, $4.3 million in 1998 and the remainder in the first quarter of
1999, that were intended for international exploration.

Net Income

Net income of $1.5 million, $0.08 per common share - basic and diluted, was
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reported for the six months ended June 30, 2000, as compared to net income of
$15.8 million, $0.80 per common share - basic and $0.79 per common share -
diluted, reported for the same period in 1999.
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ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

The information contained in Item 3 updates, and should be read in conjunction
with, information set forth in Part II, Item 7a in Nuevo's Annual Report on Form
10-K for the year ended December 31, 1999, in addition to the interim condensed
consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes presented in Items 1
and 2 of this Form 10-Q.

There are no material changes in market risks faced by the Company from those
reported in Nuevo's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
1999.
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PART II. OTHER INFORMATION
ITEM 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
See Note 7 to the Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.

On April 5, 2000, the Company filed a lawsuit against ExxonMobil
Corporation in the United States District Court for the Central District
of California, Western Division. The Company and ExxonMobil each own a
50% interest in the Sacate Field, offshore Santa Barbara County,
California, which can only be accessed from an existing ExxonMobil
platform. The Company has alleged that by grossly inflating the fee that
ExxonMobil insists the Company must pay to use an existing ExxonMobil
platform and production infrastructure, ExxonMobil failed to submit a
proposal for the development of the Sacate field consistent with the Unit
Operating Agreement. The Company therefore believes that it has been
denied a reasonable opportunity to exercise its rights under the Unit
Operating Agreement. ExxonMobil contends that Nuevo had not consented to
the operation and therefore cannot receive its share of production from
Sacate until ExxonMobil has first recovered certain costs and fees. As a
result, Nuevo has neither received revenues nor incurred operating
expenses related to Sacate. The Company has alleged that ExxonMobil's
actions breach the Unit Operating Agreement and the covenant of good
faith and fair dealing. The Company is seeking damages and a declaratory
judgment as to the payment that must be made to access ExxonMobil's
platform and facilities. The Company's capitalized costs associated with
Sacate are insignificant.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

At the annual meeting of the stockholders of the Company on May 24, 2000
the following matters were voted on with the following results:
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Isaac Arnold, Jr. was elected as a director of the Company with a
total of 14,443,384 shares voting in favor and 492,778 shares
withheld authority.

Thomas D. Barrow was elected as a director of the Company with a
total of 14,923,896 shares voting in favor and 12,266 shares
withheld authority.

David H. Batchelder was elected as a director of the Company with
a total of 14,924,625 shares voting in favor and 11,537 shares
withheld authority.

Charles M. Elson was elected as a director of the Company with a
total of 14,923,743 shares voting in favor and 12,419 shares
withheld authority.

Douglas L. Foshee was elected as a director of the Company with a
total of 14,923,941 shares voting in favor and 12,221 shares
withheld authority.

Robert L. Gerry, III was elected as a director of the Company with
a total of 14,924,139 shares voting in favor and 12,023 shares
withheld authority.

Gary R. Petersen was elected as a director of the Company with a
total of 14,924,139 shares voting in favor and 12,023 shares
withheld authority.

David Ross, III was elected as a director of the Company with a
total of 14,924,625 shares voting in favor and 11,537 shares
withheld authority.

Robert W. Shower was elected as a director of the Company with a
total of 14,924,625 shares voting in favor and 11,537 shares
withheld authority.
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The stockholders approved a proposal to ratify the selection of
KPMG LLP as the Company's independent auditors for the year ending
December 31, 2000, with a total of 14,914,285 shares voting in
favor, a total of 5,121 shares voting against and a total of
16,756 shares abstaining.

6. EXHIBITS AND REPORTS ON FORM 8-K

EXHIBITS
Material Contracts

10.

27.

10.1 Third Restated Credit Agreement dated June 7, 2000, between
Nuevo Energy Company (Borrower) and Bank of America N.A.
(Administrative Agent), Bank One, NA (Syndication Agent),
Bank of Montreal (Documentation Agent) and certain lenders.

Financial Data Schedule
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GLOSSARY OF OIL AND GAS TERMS
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TERMS USED TO DESCRIBE QUANTITIES OF OIL AND NATURAL GAS

o Bbl -- One stock tank barrel, or 42 US gallons liquid volume, of
crude oil or other liquid hydrocarbons.

o Bcf —-- One billion cubic feet of natural gas.
o Bcfe —— One billion cubic feet of natural gas equivalent.
o BOE —-- One barrel of oil equivalent, converting gas to oil at the

ratio of 6 Mcf of gas to 1 Bbl of oil.

o MBbl -- One thousand Bbls.

o Mcf —-- One thousand cubic feet of natural gas.

o MMBbl -- One million Bbls of o0il or other liquid hydrocarbons.
o MMcf -- One million cubic feet of natural gas.

o MBOE —-- One thousand BOE.

o MMBOE —- One million BOE.

TERMS USED TO CLASSIFY OUR RESERVE QUANTITIES

o Proved reserves —-- The estimated quantities of crude oil,
natural gas and natural gas liquids which, upon analysis of
geological and engineering data, appear with reasonable certainty
to be recoverable in the future from known oil and natural gas
reservoirs under existing economic and operating conditions.

The SEC definition of proved oil and gas reserves, per Article 4-10(a) (2)
of Regulation S-X, is as follows:

Proved oil and gas reserves. Proved oil and gas reserves are the
estimated quantities of crude oil, natural gas, and natural gas liquids
which geological and engineering data demonstrate with reasonable
certainty to be recoverable in future years from known reservoirs under
existing economic and operating conditions, i.e., prices and costs as of
the date the estimate is made. Prices include consideration of changes in
existing prices provided only by contractual arrangements, but not on
escalations based upon future conditions.

(a) Reservoirs are considered proved if economic producibility is
supported by either actual production or conclusive formation test. The
area of a reservoir considered proved includes (A) that portion
delineated by drilling and defined by gas-oil and/or oil-water contacts,
if any; and (B) the immediately adjoining portions not yet drilled, but
which can be reasonably judged as economically productive on the basis of
available geological and engineering data. In the absence of information
on fluid contacts, the lowest known structural occurrence of hydrocarbons
controls the lower proved limit of the reservoir.

(b) Reserves which can be produced economically through
application of improved recovery, techniques (such as fluid injection)
are included in the "proved" classification when successful testing by a
pilot project, or the operation of an installed program in the reservoir,
provides support for the engineering analysis on which the project or
program was based.
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(c) Estimates of proved reserves do not include the following: (1)
0il that may become available from known reservoirs but is classified
separately as "indicated additional reserves"; (2) crude oil, natural
gas, and natural gas liquids, the recovery of which is subject to
reasonable doubt because of uncertainty as to geology, reservoir
characteristics, or economic factors; (3) crude oil, natural gas, and
natural gas liquids, that may occur in undrilled prospects; and (4) crude
0oil, natural gas, and natural gas liquids, that may be recovered from oil
shales, coal,
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gilsonite and other such sources.

o Proved developed reserves —- Proved reserves that can be
expected to be recovered through existing wells with existing
equipment and operating methods.

o Proved undeveloped reserves —-- Proved reserves that are expected
to be recovered from new wells on undrilled acreage, or from
existing wells where a relatively major expenditure is required.

TERMS USED TO DESCRIBE THE LEGAL OWNERSHIP OF THE COMPANY'S OIL AND GAS
PROPERTIES

o Royalty interest —-— A real property interest entitling the owner
to receive a specified portion of the gross proceeds of the sale
of oil and natural gas production or, if the conveyance creating
the interest provides, a specific portion of o0il and natural gas
produced, without any deduction for the costs to explore for,
develop or produce the o0il and natural gas. A royalty interest
owner has no right to consent to or approve the operation and
development of the property, while the owners of the working
interests have the exclusive right to exploit the mineral on the
land.

o Working interest —-—- A real property interest entitling the owner
to receive a specified percentage of the proceeds of the sale of
0il and natural gas production or a percentage of the production,
but requiring the owner of the working interest to bear the cost
to explore for, develop and produce such oil and natural gas. A
working interest owner who owns a portion of the working interest
may participate either as operator or by voting his percentage
interest to approve or disapprove the appointment of an operator
and drilling and other major activities in connection with the
development and operation of a property.

TERMS USED TO DESCRIBE SEISMIC OPERATIONS

o Seismic data —-- 0il and gas companies use seismic data as their
principal source of information to locate oil and gas deposits,
both to aid in exploration for new deposits and to manage or
enhance production from known reservoirs. To gather seismic data,
an energy source is used to send sound waves into the subsurface
strata. These waves are reflected back to the surface by
underground formations, where they are detected by geophones which
digitize and record the reflected waves. Computers are then used
to process the raw data to develop an image of underground
formations.

o 2-D seismic data —-- 2-D seismic survey data has been the
standard acquisition technique used to image geologic formations
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over a broad area. 2-D seismic data is collected by a single line
of energy sources which reflect seismic waves to a single line of
geophones. When processed, 2-D seismic data produces an image of a
single vertical plane of sub-surface data.

o 3-D seismic —-- 3-D seismic data is collected using a grid of
energy sources, which are generally spread over several miles. A
3-D survey produces a three dimensional image of the subsurface
geology by collecting seismic data along parallel lines and
creating a cube of information that can be divided into various
planes, thus improving visualization. Consequently, 3-D seismic
data i1s a more reliable indicator of potential oil and natural gas
reservoirs in the area evaluated.

THE COMPANY'S MISCELLANEOUS DEFINITIONS
o Infill drilling - Infill drilling is the drilling of an

additional well or additional wells in excess of those provided
for by a spacing order in order to more adequately drain a

reservoir.

o No. 6 fuel oil (Bunker) - No. 6 fuel o0il is a heavy residual
fuel o0il used by ships, industry, and for large-scale heating
installations.
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PART II. OTHER INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the
Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

NUEVO ENERGY COMPANY
(Registrant)

Date: August 14, 2000 By:/s/ Douglas L. Foshee
Douglas L. Foshee
Chairman, President and Chief
Executive Officer

Date: August 14, 2000 By:/s/ Robert M. King

Robert M. King
Senior Vice President and Chief
Financial Officer
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an issue unrelated to voting for directors, that section 2115 is an unconstitutional exception to the “internal affairs
doctrine” that requires the law of the incorporating state to govern disputes involving a corporation’s internal affairs,
and is therefore inapplicable to Delaware corporations. The California Supreme Court has not definitively ruled on
section 2115, although certain lower courts of appeal have upheld section 2115. As a result, there is a conflict as to
whether section 2115 applies to Delaware corporations. Pending the resolution of these conflicts, we will not elect
directors by cumulative voting.

There are no arrangements or understandings between Reed’s and any person pursuant to which such person has been
elected as a director. Other than the relationships described below of Christopher J. Reed, Judy Holloway Reed, and
Robert T. Reed, Jr., none of our directors or executive officers are related to one another.

5
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Set forth below is certain information with respect to each nominee for election as a director:

Name Age Position Held with Reed's
Christopher J. 48 President, Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the
Reed Board

Judy Holloway47 Secretary and Director
Reed

Mark Harris 50 Director

Dr. D.S.J. 52 Director

Muffoletto,

N.D.

Michael 51 Director

Fischman

Business Experience of Nominees

Christopher J. Reed founded our company in 1987. Mr. Reed has served as our Chairman, President and Chief
Executive Officer since our incorporation in 1991. Mr. Reed has been responsible for our design and products,
including the original product recipes, the proprietary brewing process and the packaging and marketing strategies.
Mr. Reed received a B.S. in Chemical Engineering in 1980 from Rennselaer Polytechnic Institute in Troy, New York.

Judy Holloway Reed has been with us since 1992 and, as we have grown, has run the accounting, purchasing and
shipping and receiving departments at various times since the 1990s. Ms. Reed has been one of our directors since
June 2004, and our Secretary since October 1996. In the 1980s, Ms. Reed managed media tracking for a Los Angeles
Infomercial Media Buying Group and was an account manager with a Beverly Hills, California stock portfolio
management company. She earned a Business Degree from MIU in 1981. Ms. Reed is the wife of Christopher J. Reed,
our Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer.

Mark Harris has been a member of our Board of Directors since April 2005. Mr. Harris is an independent venture
capitalist and has been retired from the work force since 2002. In late 2003, Mr. Harris joined a group of Amgen
colleagues in funding NeoStem, Inc., a company involved in stem-cell storage, archiving, and research to which he is
a founding angel investor. From 1991 to 2002, Mr. Harris worked at biotech giant Amgen managing much of the
company’s media production for internal use and public relations. Mr. Harris spent the decade prior working in the
aerospace industry at Northrop with similar responsibilities.

Dr. Daniel S.J. Muffoletto, N.D. has been a member of our Board of Directors since April 2005. Dr. Muffoletto has
practiced as a Naturopathic Physician since 1986. He has been chief executive officer of Its Your Earth, a natural
products marketing company since June 2004. From 2003 to 2005, Dr. Muffoletto worked as sales and marketing
director for Worthington, Moore & Jacobs, a Commercial Law League member firm serving FedEx, UPS, DHL and
Kodak, among others. From 2001 to 2003, he was the owner-operator of the David St. Michel Art Gallery in
Montreal, Québec. From 1991 to 2001, Dr. Muffoletto was the owner/operator of a Naturopathic Apothecary, Herbal
Alter*Natives of Seattle, Washington and Ellicott City, Maryland. The apothecary housed Dr. Muffoletto’s
Naturopathic practice. Dr. Muffoletto received a Bachelors of Arts degree in Government and Communications from
the University of Baltimore in 1977, and conducted postgraduate work in the schools of Public Administration and
Publication Design at the University of Baltimore from 1978 to 1979. In 1986, he received his Doctorate of
Naturopathic Medicine from the Santa Fe Academy of Healing, Santa Fe, New Mexico.

35



Edgar Filing: NUEVO ENERGY CO - Form 10-Q/A

Michael Fischman has been a member of our Board of Directors since April 2005. Since 1998, Mr. Fischman has
been President and chief executive officer of the APEX course, the corporate training division of the International
Association of Human Values. In addition, Mr. Fischman is a founding member and the director of training for USA
at the Art of Living Foundation, a global non-profit educational and humanitarian organization at which he has
coordinated over 200 personal development instructors since 1997. Among Mr. Fischman’s personal development
clients are the World Bank, Royal Dutch Shell, the United Nations, the US Department of Probation, the Washington,
D.C. Police Department, and Rotary Clubs International.
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Our Executive Officers

The following table sets forth information concerning our executive officers:

Name Age Position Held with Reed’s

Thierry Foucaut 42 Chief Operating Officer

David M. Kane 44 Chief Financial Officer

Rory Ahearn 56 Senior Vice President - Sales

Neal Cohane 47 Vice President - Sales

Robert T. Reed, Jr. 51 Vice President and National
Sales Manager - Mainstream

Eric Scheffer 39 Vice President and National
Sales Manager - Natural Foods

Robert Lyon 57 Vice President Sales - Special
Projects

Thierry Foucaut has been our Chief Operating Officer since May 2007. Prior to joining us, Mr. Foucaut worked for
six years as Chief Operating Officer of Village Imports, a $30 million specialty foods and beverage distributor in
California, where he created and launched a line of sparkling lemonades and managed the company's operations
including multiple warehouses and fleets of DSD delivery trucks. Mr. Foucaut spent 2000 with Eve.com, a leading
San Francisco website specializing in retail sales of high end cosmetics. Mr. Foucaut worked for L'Oréal Paris from
1994 through 1999 with growing marketing and sales responsibilities, including Product Manager from September
1994 to May 1996, South Europe Marketing Coordinator from June 1996 to July 1998 and Duty Free Key Account
Executive from July 1998 to December 1999, managing large airport and airline clients over several European
countries. He earned a Master of Science degree from Ecole Centrale Paris in 1988, and an MBA from Harvard
Business School in 1994.

David M. Kane has been our Chief Financial Officer since October 2007. Prior to joining us, Mr. Kane had served as
the Interim Chief Financial Officer of National Lampoon, Inc. since December 2006. Since 2000, Mr. Kane has
operated a financial consulting practice for entertainment and media companies. Prior to his consulting practice, Mr.
Kane served as Chief Financial Officer of the Left Bank Organization, a record label and music management
company. He also served as the Chief Financial Officer for GreatDomains.com, an internet start-up company which
was eventually sold to VeriSign. Mr. Kane spent the early part of his career working as Director of Finance for Virgin
Records and Chief Financial Officer of Focus Affiliates, a publicly held electronics distributor. Mr. Kane holds a B.A.
degree in Psychology from the University of California at Los Angeles.

Rory Ahearn has been our Senior Vice President of Sales since August 2007. He has had approximately 30 years of
experience in the beverage industry. He most recently served as the Director of Sales, Eastern Business Unit, for Red
Bull North America. In his seven years with Red Bull, Mr. Ahearn was responsible for building a distributor network
from New York to Virginia, as well as selecting, training and managing an on and off premise sales force in excess of
50 persons. In addition, he managed the brand’s expansion into the national account segment in grocery, convenience,
club, drug and non traditional channels. From 1998 through June 2000, Mr. Ahearn was the Northeast Regional
Marketing Manager for Heineken USA and was responsible for channel programming in the off and on premise
segments, with a particular emphasis on channel grocery and convenience in the Northeast markets. Mr. Ahearn
spearheaded programming in the sports marketing area with the Boston Bruins, and conducted significant work in
marketing to the Hispanic community. From 1987 to 1988, Mr. Ahearn held various executive positions with the
Coors Distributing Company of New York. Mr. Ahearn managed both the distribution centers, as well as the on and
off premise sales teams. Mr. Ahearn began his career in the beverage business while employed at Joyce Beverages, in
Forestville, Maryland and Norwalk, Connecticut, as a route salesman. Mr. Ahearn is a graduate of Pace University,
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Pleasantville New York with B.A. degree in Communications.
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Neal Cohane has been our Vice President of Sales since August 2007. From March 2001 until August 2007, Mr.
Cohane served in various senior-level sales and executive positions for PepsiCo, most recently as Senior National
Accounts Manager, Eastern Division. In this capacity, Mr. Cohane was responsible for all business development and
sales activities within the Eastern Division. From March 2001 until November 2002, Mr. Cohane served as Business
Development Manager, Non-Carbonated Division within PepsiCo where he was responsible for leading the
non-carbonated category build-out across the Northeast Territory. From 1998 to March 2001, Mr. Cohane spent three
years at South Beach Beverage Company, most recently as Vice President of Sales, Eastern Region. During his tenure
as Vice President of Sales, Eastern Region, Mr. Cohane managed a team of approximately 35 employees and an
independent network of approximately 100 distributors to drive increased category sales volume and market share.
From 1986 to 1998, Mr. Cohane spent approximately twelve years at Coca-Cola of New York where he held various
senior-level sales and managerial positions, most recently as General Manager New York. Mr. Cohane holds a B.S.
degree in Business Administration from Merrimack College in North Andover, Massachusetts.

Robert T. Reed Jr. has been our Vice President and National Sales Manager - Mainstream since January 2004. Prior to
joining us, Mr. Reed was employed with SunGard Availability Services from 1987 through 2003. He started with
SunGard as an Account Manager. Over the years, Mr. Reed earned promotions to Director of Sales in 1989, Vice
President of Sales in 1992 and Senior Vice President of Sales in 1997. In March 2000, Mr. Reed was appointed
President of SunGard eSourcing, a subsidiary of SunGard Availability Services, with annual revenue in excess of $70
million and over 300 employees. He earned a Bachelors of Science degree in Business and Finance from Mount Saint
Mary’s University in 1977. Mr. Reed is the brother of Christopher J. Reed, our Chairman, President and Chief
Executive Officer.

Eric Scheffer has been our Vice President and National Sales Manager - Natural Foods since May 2001. From
September 2000 to May 2001, Mr. Scheffer worked as Vice President of Sales for Rachel Perry Natural Cosmetics.
Mr. Scheffer was national sales manager at Earth Science, Inc. from January 1999 to September 2000, where he
managed the United States and Canadian outside sales force. Mr. Scheffer was national sales manager at USA
Nutritionals from June 1997 to January 1999, where he led a successful effort bridging their marketing from natural
foods to mainstream stores. He worked for Vita Source as Western sales manager from May 1994 to June 1997 and
was their first sales representative.

Robert Lyon has been our Vice President Sales - Special Projects since June 2002. In that capacity, Mr. Lyon directs
our Southern California direct sales and distribution program in mainstream markets. Over the past five years, Mr.
Lyon also has operated an organic rosemary farm in Malibu, California, selling bulk to re-packagers. In the 1980s and
1990s, Mr. Lyon operated a successful water taxi service with 20 employees and eight vessels of his own design. He
also built the national sales team for a jewelry company, Iberia, from 1982 through 1987. Mr. Lyon holds several U.S.
patents. He earned a Business Degree from Northwestern Michigan University in 1969.

Vote Required

Directors are elected by a plurality of the votes cast. This means that the five individuals nominated for election to the
Board of Directors who receive the most “FOR” votes (among votes properly cast in person or by proxy) will be elected.
Nominees do not need to receive a majority to be elected.

Recommendation of the Board of Directors

The Board of Directors recommends that stockholders vote FOR the election of the five nominees to the Board of
Directors.
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PROPOSAL NO. 2

INCREASE OF AUTHORIZED SHARES OF COMMON STOCK
General

Our current certificate of incorporation authorizes the issuance of up to 11,500,000 shares of common stock, par value
$0.0001 per share and 500,000 of preferred stock, par value $10.00 per share. The Board of Directors has adopted a
resolution authorizing the necessary amendment to our certificate of incorporation to increase the authorized number
of shares of our common stock, subject to stockholder approval. The Board of Directors believes that the proposed
amendment will provide certain long-term advantages to our stockholders. This Proposal 2 seeks the approval of our
stockholders to increase the authorized number of shares of common stock to 19,500,000 shares, par value $0.0001
per share.

As of October 12, 2007, we had issued and outstanding 8,721,045 shares of common stock, 222,160 shares of
common stock reserved for issuance underlying the 55,540 issued and outstanding shares of Series A preferred stock
(calculated as of the Record Date), 1,668,236 shares of common stock reserved for issuance underlying currently
issued and outstanding warrants, 797,500 shares of common stock reserved for issuance underlying currently issued
and outstanding options. We currently have 91,059 shares of common stock reserved for future issuances to issue
shares of common stock, other than pursuant to shares of common stock underlying our outstanding Series A
preferred stock, options and warrants and equity plans. We also intend to reserve 1,500,000 shares of common stock
for issuance underlying our proposed 2007 Stock Incentive Award Plan which is to be voted upon at the Meeting. The
Board of Directors has approved an increase in the authorized number of shares of common stock to 19,500,000
shares in order to cover potential issuances of common stock underlying our outstanding Series A preferred stock,
options and warrants, to facilitate our ability to raise capital, to facilitate acquisitions and mergers and to attract
qualified employees by offering stock options as incentive compensation for such persons, by authorizing the issuance
of additional securities for purposes of effectuating such transactions. See “Proposal 3 - Approval of our 2007 Stock
Incentive Award Plan.”

In the event that the stockholders approve this Proposal 2 (and the proposal relating to out 2007 Stock Incentive
Award Plan), the authorized number of shares of common stock will increase from to 11,500,000 shares to 19,500,000
shares and we will have 6,591,059 shares of common stock not reserved for specific use and available for future
issuances.

Purpose and Background of the Increase in Authorized Shares

We are proposing to increase the total number of our authorized shares of common stock to 19,500,000 shares so that
we will have sufficient authorized but unissued common stock to permit the exercise of all of our currently
outstanding securities, and, in addition, enable us to respond quickly to opportunities to raise capital in private
placements and issue shares in business combinations. Based on the approximately 91,059 shares of common stock
that are currently either outstanding or reserved for future issuance, the Board of Directors has determined that the
number of unreserved shares of common stock presently available for issuance is not sufficient to provide for future
contingencies.

The additional authorized shares may be used for any proper corporate purpose approved by our Board of Directors
without further action by stockholders, unless required by law, regulation or the rules of any stock exchange or
quotation system on which the common stock may be listed or quoted in the future, if at all. Stockholder approval
requirements may apply in the case of certain transactions, such as business combination transactions or the adoption
of employee benefit plans. If any such shares are to be issued in connection with potential business transactions that
independently require stockholder approval, such approval will be sought at the appropriate time. The availability of
additional authorized shares will enable our Board of Directors to act with flexibility and dispatch when favorable
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opportunities arise to enhance our capital structure. Additional shares may be issued in connection with, among other
things, the sale of stock to obtain additional funding, the purchase of property, the acquisition or merger of other
companies, the use of additional shares for various equity compensation and other employee benefit plans, the
declaration of stock splits or distributions, and other bona fide corporate purposes.
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We believe that the proposed increase in authorized common stock will make sufficient shares available for use
pursuant to the purposes described herein. We reserve the right to seek a further increase in authorized shares from
time to time in the future as we consider appropriate.

Effect on Outstanding Common Stock and Series A Preferred Stock

The additional shares of common stock authorized by the proposed amendment would have the same privileges as the
shares of common stock currently authorized and issued. Stockholders do not have preemptive rights under our
certificate of incorporation and will not have such rights with respect to the additional authorized shares of common
stock. The increase in authorized shares would not affect the terms or rights of holders of existing shares of common
stock. All outstanding shares of common stock would continue to have one vote per share on all matters to be voted
on by the stockholders, including the election of directors. The issuance of any additional shares of common stock
may, depending on the circumstances under which those shares are issued, reduce stockholders’ equity per share and,
unless additional shares are issued to all stockholders on a pro rata basis, will reduce the percentage ownership of
common stock of existing stockholders. In addition, if our Board of Directors elects to issue additional shares of
common stock, such issuance could have a dilutive effect on the earnings per share, voting power and shareholdings
of current stockholders. We expect, however, to receive consideration for any additional shares of common stock
issued, thereby reducing or eliminating any adverse economic effect to each stockholder of such dilution. The
proposed increase in the authorized number of shares of common stock will not otherwise alter or modify the rights,
preferences, privileges or restrictions of the common stock or Series A preferred stock.

Potential Anti-Takeover Effect

The proposed amendment to increase the number of authorized shares of common stock could, under certain
circumstances, have an anti-takeover effect. For example, in the event of a hostile attempt to take over control of us, it
may be possible for us to endeavor to impede the attempt by issuing shares of common stock, thereby diluting or
impairing the voting power of the other outstanding shares of common stock and increasing the potential costs to
acquire control of us. The amendment therefore may have the effect of discouraging unsolicited takeover attempts,
thereby potentially limiting the opportunity for our stockholders to dispose of their shares at the higher price generally
available in takeover attempts or that may be available under a merger proposal. The proposed amendment may have
the effect of permitting our current management, including the current Board of Directors, to retain its position, and
place it in a better position to resist changes that stockholders may wish to make if they are dissatisfied with the
conduct of our business.

Our charter documents do not permit cumulative voting, which may make it more difficult for a third party to gain
control of our Board of Directors. Further, we are subject to the anti-takeover provisions of Section 203 of the
Delaware General Corporation Law, which will prohibit us from engaging in a "business combination" with an
"interested stockholder" for a period of three years after the date of the transaction in which the person became an
interested stockholder, even if such combination is favored by a majority of stockholders, unless the business
combination is approved in a prescribed manner. The application of Section 203 also could have the effect of delaying
or preventing a change of control or management. Other than the application of Section 203, we do not have any
existing provisions of our Certificate of Incorporation or Bylaws, or other present arrangements, agreements or
understandings which could be deemed to have material anti-takeover effects.

This Proposal 2 is not being submitted as a result of or in response to any known accumulation of stock or threatened
takeover or attempt to obtain control of us by means of a business combination, tender offer, solicitation in opposition
to management or otherwise by any person. We have no present plans to implement or propose any additional

measures or Bylaws having anti-takeover effects.

Vote Required
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Under our certificate of incorporation and Delaware law, this Proposal 2 to increase the authorized number of shares
of common stock in our certificate of incorporation must be approved by the affirmative vote of the holders of a
majority of the issued and outstanding shares of our common stock.
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Recommendation of the Board of Directors

The Board of Directors Recommends a Vote “FOR” to this proposal to increase the authorized number of shares of
common stock.

PROPOSAL NO. 3
APPROVAL OF REED’S 2007 STOCK INCENTIVE AWARD PLAN
2007 Stock Incentive Award Plan

Management believes that the 2007 Stock Incentive Award Plan (the “2007 Plan”) is a key component of its total
compensation package used to attract, retain, motivate, and reward employees, directors, and certain select service
providers, as well as to provide for equitable and competitive compensation opportunities, to recognize individual
contributions and reward achievement of our goals, and to promote the creation of long-term value for stockholders by
strengthening the mutuality of interests between those employees, directors and select service providers who
participate in the 2007 Plan and our stockholders. The 2007 Plan was approved by the Board of Directors upon the
recommendation of the Compensation Committee on October 9, 2007.

The 2007 Plan is subject to approval by our stockholders, in accordance with applicable law. The description herein is
a summary of the 2007 Plan and is subject to and qualified by the complete text of the 2007 Plan, which is set forth on
Appendix A. We believe that the use of share-based benefits as part of our compensation package is of great
importance in promoting our growth and continued success and is thus of substantial benefit to our stockholders and
us.

The 2007 Plan reserves 1,500,000 shares of common stock for issuance.

We are seeking stockholder approval of the 2007 Plan because we believe the flexibility it provides us will help us
achieve our goal of promoting our long-term growth and profitability by enabling us to attract, retain and reward key
employees and therefore align the interests of those employees with those of our stockholders. Without the adoption
of the 2007 Plan, we would not have the flexibility to make certain equity-based awards to our key employees and
would be greatly disadvantaged in attracting and retaining key employees.

Summary of the 2007 Plan. The purpose of the 2007 Plan is to promote our long-term growth and profitability by
enabling us to attract, retain and reward key employees, officers, directors, and consultants, and to strengthen the
common interests of such employees, officers, directors, and consultants and our stockholders by offering additional
compensation to key individuals’ for their services in the form of equity or equity-based incentives. Our key
employees, directors, officers, and consultants will be eligible to participate in the 2007 Plan.

The Compensation Committee will administer the 2007 Plan and determine who receives awards, the type and amount
of awards, the consideration, if any, to be paid for awards, the timing of awards and the terms and conditions of
awards. Under the 2007 Plan, the Compensation Committee may delegate its responsibilities as to the selection of and
grant of awards to employees who are not executive officers or, subject to Section 16 of the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934, to our management in a manner consistent with applicable law. The Compensation Committee will have the
authority and power to adopt, alter and repeal such rules, guidelines and practices governing the 2007 Plan as it
considers advisable and to interpret the terms and provisions of the 2007 Plan and any award issued under the 2007
Plan, in its sole discretion. The Compensation Committee may modify, suspend or terminate the 2007 Plan as long as
it does not impair the rights thereunder of any participant.
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The Compensation Committee may grant stock options that (i) qualify as incentive stock options under Section 422 of
the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), (ii) do not qualify as incentive stock options, or (iii) both.
To qualify as an incentive stock option, an option must meet certain requirements set forth in the Code. Options are
evidenced by a stock option agreement in the form approved by the Compensation Committee. In addition, the
Compensation Committee may make grants of restricted stock, stock appreciation rights, stock units, and other
share-based awards, in tandem or individually, or in any combination thereof, all of which must be granted under
individual award agreements which must be acknowledged to and accepted by the recipient of such awards.

Stock options will be exercisable and any restricted stock, stock appreciation rights, stock units, or other stock-based
grants will vest at such time or times as the Compensation Committee determines at the time of grant. In general,
restricted common shares are non-transferable prior to vesting. Additionally, if any stock option or restricted common
share grant is exercisable or becomes vested only in installments or after specified exercise dates, the Compensation
Committee may waive such exercise provisions and accelerate any exercise date based on such factors as the
Compensation Committee shall determine in its sole discretion. No consideration will be received by us for the
granting of stock options or restricted stock grants.

The exercise price of a stock option granted under the 2007 Plan may not be less than 100% of the fair market value of
our common stock on the date the stock option is granted, except that with respect to an incentive stock option, the
exercise price may not be less than 110% of the fair market value of our common stock on the date of grant for
participants who, on the date of grant, own more than 10% of the total combined voting power of all classes of our
capital stock.

The term of each stock option will be fixed by the Compensation Committee and may not exceed ten years from the
date the stock option is granted, except that the term for incentive stock options may not exceed five years for
participants who, on the date of grant, own more than 10% of the total combined voting power of all classes of our
capital stock.

No participant in the 2007 Plan may be granted stock options, restricted stock grants or other stock awards in any
calendar year for more than 75,000 shares of our common stock.

In the event of any merger, reorganization, consolidation, recapitalization, share dividend, share split, combination of
shares or other change in our corporate structure affecting the shares, an adjustment or substitution may be made as
approved by the Compensation Committee in accordance with applicable law.

The 2007 Plan will not be qualified under Section 401(a) of the Code and will not be subject to the provisions of the
Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974. The 2007 Plan is intended to comply with Code Section 409A.

To the extent an award under the 2007 Plan is determined to provided for a deferral of compensation (as determined
under Code Section 409A), then any payment or distribution made in accordance with such award to or on behalf of a
“specified employee” (as such term is defined under Code Section 409A) upon said employee’s “separation from service”
(as defined under Code Section 409A), shall be delayed for six months following the specified employee’s separation
from service.

In the event there is a corporate transaction (as defined in the 2007 Plan) in which equity awards under the 2007 Plan
are not assumed, then fifteen days prior to the corporate transaction, any stock options and stock appreciation rights
that are outstanding shall become immediately exercisable and shall remain exercisable for a period of fifteen days.
Alternatively, the Compensation Committee may elect, in its sole discretion, to cancel any outstanding awards of
stock options, restricted stock, stock units, stock appreciation rights, and other stock-based awards, and pay or deliver
(or cause to be paid or delivered) to the holder of such equity awards an amount of cash or securities, as determined by
the Compensation Committee in good faith and in accordance with the provisions of the 2007 Plan.
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To the extent the Company establishes a fifteen-day exercise window in connection with a corporate transaction, any
exercise of an equity award will be valid subject to consummation of the relevant corporate transaction. The 2007 Plan
and any unexercised awards that had been subject to the fifteen-day exercise window shall immediately terminate
upon consummation of the relevant corporation transaction.

Federal Income Tax Consequences. The following is a brief summary of the federal income tax consequences
applicable to awards granted under the 2007 Plan based on federal income tax laws in effect on the date of this proxy
statement. This summary is not intended to be exhaustive and does not address all matters which may be relevant to a
particular participant based on his or her specific circumstances. The summary expressly does not discuss the income
tax laws of any state, municipality, or non-U.S. taxing jurisdiction, or the gift, estate, excise (including the rules
applicable to deferred compensation under Code Section 409A), or other tax laws other than federal income tax law.
The following is not intended or written to be used, and cannot be used, for the purposes of avoiding taxpayer
penalties. Because individual circumstances may vary, we advise all participants to consult their own tax advisors
concerning the tax implications of awards granted under the 2007 Plan.
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A recipient of a stock option or stock appreciation right will not have taxable income upon the grant of the stock
option or stock appreciation right. For nonstatutory stock options and stock appreciation rights, the participant will
recognize ordinary income upon exercise in an amount equal to the difference between the fair market value of the
shares and the exercise price on the date of exercise. Any gain or loss recognized upon any later disposition of the
shares generally will be a capital gain or loss.

The acquisition of shares upon exercise of an incentive stock option will not result in any taxable income to the
participant, except, possibly, for purposes of the alternative minimum tax. The gain or loss recognized by the
participant on a later sale or other disposition of such shares will either be long-term capital gain or loss or ordinary
income, depending upon whether the participant holds the shares for the legally-required period (currently two years
from the date of grant and one year from the date of exercise). If the shares are not held for the legally-required period,
the participant will recognize ordinary income equal to the lesser of (i) the difference between the fair market value of
the shares on the date of exercise and the exercise price, or (ii) the difference between the sales price and the exercise
price.

For stock grant awards, unless vested or the participant elects to be taxed at the time of grant, the participant will not
have taxable income upon the grant, but upon vesting will recognize ordinary income equal to the fair market value of
the shares at the time of vesting less the amount paid for such shares (if any). Any gain or loss recognized upon any
later disposition of the shares generally will be a capital gain or loss.

A participant is not deemed to receive any taxable income at the time an award of stock units is granted. When vested
stock units (and dividend equivalents, if any) are settled and distributed, the participant will recognize ordinary
income equal to the amount of cash received less the amount paid for such stock units (if any).

If the participant is an employee or former employee, the amount the participant recognizes as ordinary income in
connection with an award is subject to withholding taxes (not applicable to incentive stock options) and we are
allowed a tax deduction equal to the amount of ordinary income recognized by the participant; however, Code Section
162(m) contains special rules regarding the federal income tax deductibility of compensation paid to our principal
executive officer and to each of our three highest compensated executive officers. The general rule is that annual
compensation paid to any of these specified executives will be deductible only to the extent that it does not exceed
$1,000,000. However, we can preserve the deductibility of certain compensation in excess of $1,000,000 if such
compensation qualifies as “performance-based compensation” by complying with certain conditions imposed by the
Code Section 162(m) rules (including the establishment of a maximum number of shares with respect to which awards
may be granted to any one employee during one fiscal year) and if the material terms of such compensation are
disclosed to and approved by the stockholders. The 2007 Plan is structured with the intention that the Compensation
Committee will have the discretion to make awards under the 2007 Plan that would qualify as “performance-based
compensation” and be deductible. We have limited the maximum number of shares with respect to which awards may
be granted to any one employee during one fiscal year to 75,000 shares. We are seeking stockholder approval of the
2007 Plan to comply with Code Section 162(m).

Vote Required

To be approved by stockholders, this proposal must receive the affirmative FOR vote of a majority of the votes cast
affirmatively or negatively on this proposal at the annual meeting.

Recommendation of the Board of Directors
The Board of Directors recommends that stockholders vote FOR this proposal to authorize the 2007 Plan.

13

47



Edgar Filing: NUEVO ENERGY CO - Form 10-Q/A
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

We are committed to having sound corporate governance principles. Such principles are essential to running our
business efficiently and to maintaining our integrity in the marketplace.

Director Qualifications

We believe that our directors should have the highest professional and personal ethics and values, consistent with our
longstanding values and standards. They should have broad experience at the policy-making level in business or
banking. They should be committed to enhancing stockholder value and should have sufficient time to carry out their
duties and to provide insight and practical wisdom based on experience. Their service on other boards of public
companies should be limited to a number that permits them, given their individual circumstances, to perform
responsibly all director duties for us. Each director must represent the interests of all stockholders. When considering
potential director candidates, the Board of Directors also considers the candidate’s character, judgment, diversity, age
and skills, including financial literacy and experience in the context of our needs and the needs of the Board of
Directors.

Director Independence
The Board of Directors has determined that three members of our Board of Directors, Mr. Harris, Dr. Muffoletto and
Mr. Fischman, are independent under the revised listing standards of The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. We intend to

maintain at least two independent directors on our Board of Directors in the future.

Our Chief Executive Officer and all senior financial officers, including the Chief Financial Officer, are bound by a
Code of Ethics that complies with Item 406 of Regulation S-B of the Exchange Act.

Board Structure and Committee Composition
As of the date of this proxy statement, our Board of Directors has five directors and the following three standing
committees: an Audit Committee, a Compensation Committee and a Nominations and Governance Committee. These

committees were formed in January 2007.

US EURO Securities, Inc., the lead underwriter in our initial public offering, will have the right to designate an
observer to our board of directors and each of its committees through the period ending December 12, 2011.

Audit Committee. Our Audit Committee oversees our accounting and financial reporting processes, internal systems of
accounting and financial controls, relationships with independent auditors and audits of financial statements. Specific
responsibilities include the following:

selecting, hiring and terminating our independent auditors;

evaluating the qualifications, independence and performance of our
independent auditors;

approving the audit and non-audit services to be performed by our
independent auditors;

reviewing the design, implementation, adequacy and effectiveness of our
internal controls and critical accounting policies;

48



14

Edgar Filing: NUEVO ENERGY CO - Form 10-Q/A

overseeing and monitoring the integrity of our financial statements and our
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements as they relate to financial
statements or accounting matters;

reviewing with management and our independent auditors, any earnings
announcements and other public announcements regarding our results of
operations; and

preparing the audit committee report that the SEC requires in our annual
proxy statement.
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Our Audit Committee is comprised of Dr. Muffoletto, Mr. Harris and Mr. Fischman. Dr. Muffoletto serves as
Chairman of the Audit Committee. The Board of Directors has determined that the three members of the Audit
Committee are independent under the rules of the SEC and the Nasdaq National Market and that Dr. Muffoletto
qualifies as an “audit committee financial expert,” as defined by the rules of the SEC. Our Board of Directors has
adopted a written charter for the Audit Committee meeting applicable standards of the SEC and the Nasdaq National
Market.

Compensation Committee. Our Compensation Committee assists our Board of Directors in determining and
developing plans for the compensation of our officers, directors and employees. Specific responsibilities include the
following:

approving the compensation and benefits of our executive officers;

reviewing the performance objectives and actual performance of our officers;
and

administering our stock option and other equity compensation plans.

Our Compensation Committee is comprised of Dr. Muffoletto, Mr. Harris and Mr. Fischman. The Board of
Directors has determined that all of the members of the Compensation Committee are independent under the rules of
the Nasdaq National Market. Our Board of Directors has adopted a written charter for the Compensation Committee.

Nominations and Governance Committee. Our Nominations and Governance Committee assists the Board of
Directors by identifying and recommending individuals qualified to become members of our Board of Directors,
reviewing correspondence from our stockholders, and establishing, evaluating and overseeing our corporate
governance guidelines. Specific responsibilities include the following:

evaluating the composition, size and governance of our Board of Directors and its committees and making
recommendations regarding future planning and the appointment of directors to our committees;

establishing a policy for considering stockholder nominees for election to our Board of Directors; and
evaluating and recommending candidates for election to our Board of Directors.

Our Nominations and Governance Committee is comprised of Dr. Muffoletto and Mr. Fischman. The Board of
Directors has determined that all of the members of the Nominations and Governance Committee are independent
under the rules of the Nasdaq National Market. Our Board of Directors has adopted a written charter for the
Nominations and Corporate Governance Committee.
Stockholder Communications with Our Board of Directors
Our Board of Directors has established a process for stockholders to communicate with the Board of Directors or with
individual directors. Stockholders who wish to communicate with our Board of Directors or with individual directors
should direct written correspondence to our Corporate Secretary at our principal executive offices located at 13000
South Spring Street, Los Angeles, California 90061. Any such communication must contain:

a representation that the stockholder is a holder of record of our capital stock;

the name and address, as they appear on our books, of the stockholder

sending such communication; and
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the class and number of shares of our capital stock that are beneficially owned
by such stockholder.

The Corporate Secretary will forward such communications to our Board of Directors or the specified individual
director to whom the communication is directed unless such communication is unduly hostile, threatening, illegal or

similarly inappropriate, in which case the Corporate Secretary has the authority to discard the communication or to
take appropriate legal action regarding such communication.
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REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE OF

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The information contained in this report shall not be deemed to be "soliciting material" or "filed" or incorporated by
reference in future filings with the SEC, or subject to the liabilities of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, except to the extent that Reed’s, Inc. specifically incorporates it by reference into a document filed under the
Securities Act of 1933 or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

The Audit Committee has reviewed and discussed with Reed’s, Inc. management and Weinberg & Company, P.A. the
audited financial statements of Reed’s, Inc. contained in Reed’s, Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-KSB for the 2006
fiscal year. The Audit Committee has also discussed with Weinberg & Company, P.A. the matters required to be
discussed pursuant to SAS No. 61 (Codification of Statements on Auditing Standards, AU Section 380), which
includes, among other items, matters related to the conduct of the audit of Reed’s, Inc.’s financial statements.

The Audit Committee has received and reviewed the written disclosures and the letter from Weinberg & Company,
P.A. required by Independence Standards Board Standard No. 1 (Independence Discussions with Audit Committees),
and has discussed with Weinberg & Company, P.A. its independence from Reed’s, Inc.

Based on the review and discussions referred to above, the Audit Committee recommended to the Board of Directors
that the audited consolidated financial statements be included in Reed’s, Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-KSB for its
2006 fiscal year for filing with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

Audit Committee of the Board of Directors

Dr. D.S.J. Muffoletto, N.D. (Chairman)
Mark Harris
Michael Fischman

Dated: April 10, 2007
SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT

The following table reflects, as of October 12, 2007, the beneficial common stock ownership of: (a) each of our
directors, (b) each named executive officer, (c) each person known by us to be a beneficial holder of 5% or more of
our common stock, and (d) all of our directors and executive officers as a group.

Except as otherwise indicated below, the persons named in the table have sole voting and investment power with
respect to all shares of common stock held by them. Unless otherwise indicated, the principal address of each director
and listed executive officer is 13000 South Spring Street, Los Angeles, California 90061.
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Number of Shares
Name of Beneficial Owner Beneficially  Percentage of Shares
Owned Beneficially Owned @)
Directors and Named Executive
Officers
Christopher J. Reed @ 3,200,000 36.69
Judy Holloway Reed @ 3,200,000 36.69
Mark Harris ® 4,319 *
Dr. Daniel S.J. Muffoletto, N.D. 0 0
Michael Fischman 0 0
Directors and executive officers as a
group (12 persons) 4 3,732,101 41.61
5% or greater stockholders
Joseph Grace 500,000 5.74
Alma and Gabriel Elias © 1,318,724 14.70

* Less than 1%.

(1)Beneficial ownership is determined in accordance with the rules of the SEC. Shares of common stock subject to

options or warrants currently exercisable or exercisable within 60 days of October 12, 2007, are deemed
outstanding for computing the percentage ownership of the stockholder holding the options or warrants, but are not
deemed outstanding for computing the percentage ownership of any other stockholder. Unless otherwise indicated
in the footnotes to this table, we believe stockholders named in the table have sole voting and sole investment
power with respect to the shares set forth opposite such stockholder's name. Unless otherwise indicated, the
officers, directors and stockholders can be reached at our principal offices. Percentage of ownership is based on
8,721,045 shares of common stock outstanding as of October 12, 2007.

(2)Christopher J. Reed and Judy Holloway Reed are husband and wife. The same number of shares of common stock

is shown for each of them, as they may each be deemed to be the beneficial owner of all of such shares. These
shares have been pledged as collateral to Robert T. Reed, Jr. to secure a pledge of Mr. Reed of his shares as
collateral for a line of credit extended to us.

(3)Conisists of: (i) 319 shares of common stock, and (ii) 4,000 shares of common stock, which can be converted at any

time from 1,000 shares of Series A preferred stock. The address for Mr. Harris is 160 Barranca Road, Newbury
Park, California 91320.

(4)Includes three executive officers (including Robert T. Reed, Jr., our Executive Vice-President and National Sales

Manager - Mainstream (282,282 shares of common stock, options exercisable into 50,000 shares of common stock,
and 60,000 shares of common stock, which can be converted at any time from 15,000 shares of Series A preferred
stock), Robert Lyon, our Vice President Sales - Special Projects (options to purchase up to 60,000 shares) and Eric
Scheffer, our Vice President and National Sales Manager - Natural Foods (500 shares and options to purchase up to
75,000 shares)) who beneficially own in the aggregate of 527,782 shares of common stock. Does not include
options to purchase up to 360,000 shares of common stock which vest in portions through the period ending
December 2010.
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Elias Family Charitable Trust, Alma and Gabriel Elias JTWROS and Wholesale Realtors Supply may be deemed
to be affiliates of each other for purposes of calculating beneficial ownership of their securities in this table. The
registered ownership of such stockholders is as follows: (a) Elias Family Charitable Trust (25,500 shares of
common stock and warrants to purchase up to 10,000 shares of common stock), (b) Alma and Gabriel Elias
JTWROS (376,000 shares of common stock and warrants to purchase up to 157,528 shares of common stock), and
(c) Wholesale Realtors Supply (666,363 shares of common stock and warrants to purchase up to 83,333 shares of
common stock).
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EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The following table sets forth certain information concerning compensation of certain of our executive officers,
including our Chief Executive Officer and all other executive officers, or the Named Executive Officers, whose total
annual salary and bonus exceeded $100,000, for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005:

Non-Equilyon-Qualified

Incentive Deferred
Name and Principal Stock Option Plan Compensationll Other
Position Year Salary Bonus AwardsA wardsompensatiodfarningCompensation Total

Christopher J. Reed,
Chief Executive Officer 2006 $ 150,000 0 0 0 0 0 0$ 150,000
2005 $ 150,000 0 0 0 0 0 0% 150,000

None of our other employees received total compensation in excess of $100,000 during the years ended December 31,
2005 and 2006.

Option/SAR Grants to Executive Officers

No Named Executive Officers has received or exercised any stock awards, stock options or SARs during 2006, or
otherwise were the beneficial owners of any stock awards, stock options or SARs at December 31, 2006.

Director Compensation

Prior to the fourth quarter of 2006, we did not pay any compensation to our non-employee directors for their
attendance at board meetings. During the fourth quarter of 2006, we began a policy of compensating our
non-employee directors for their services. We pay each director, with the exception of Christopher J. Reed, $75.00 for
each resolution submitted to the board of directors. During the year ended December 31, 2006, we paid each of our
directors, other than Christopher J. Reed, an aggregate of $300 for their services on our Board of Directors.

Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation

No interlocking relationship exists between any member of our board of directors and any member of the board of
directors or compensation committee of any other companies, nor has such interlocking relationship existed in the
past.

Employment Agreements

We have entered into an at-will employment agreement with Thierry Foucaut, our Chief Operating Officer, which
provides for an annualized salary of approximately $130,000 per year. In addition, we have granted Mr. Foucaut
options to purchase up to 50,000 shares of common stock which vest over a three year period ending in 2010. Further,
we have entered into an at-will employment agreement with David M. Kane, our Chief Financial Officer, which
provides for an annualized salary of approximately $175,000 per year. In addition, we have granted Mr. Kane options
to purchase up to 50,000 shares of common stock which vest over a three year period ending in 2010. Further, we
have entered into an at-will employment agreement with Rory Ahearn, our Senior Vice President of Sales, which
provides for an annualized salary of approximately $205,000 per year. In addition, we have granted Mr. Ahearn
options to purchase up to 100,000 shares of common stock which vest over a three year period ending in 2010.
Further, we have entered into an at-will employment agreement with Neal Cohane, our Vice President of Sales, which
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provides for an annualized salary of approximately $180,000 per year. In addition, we have granted Mr. Cohane
options to purchase up to 75,000 shares of common stock which vest over a three year period ending in 2010.
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Except as set forth above, there are no written employment agreements with any of our officers or key employees,
including Christopher J. Reed. We do not have any agreements which provide for severance upon termination of
employment, whether in context of a change of control or not.

2001 Stock Option Plan

Pursuant to our 2001 Stock Option Plan (the “2001 Plan”), we are authorized to issue options to purchase up to 500,000
shares of common stock. As of October 12, 2007, 500,000 options have been issued under the 2001 Plan, of which
206,000 options have vested. On August 28, 2001, our board of directors adopted the 2001 Plan and the 2001 Plan

was approved by our stockholders.

The 2001 Plan permits the grant of options to our employees, directors and consultants. The options may constitute

either “incentive stock options” within the meaning of Section 422 of the Internal Revenue Code or “non-qualified stock
options.” The primary difference between “incentive stock options” and “non-qualified stock options” is that once an option
is exercised, the stock received under an “incentive stock option” has the potential of being taxed at the more favorable
long-term capital gains rate, while stock received by exercising a “non-qualified stock option” is taxed according to the
ordinary income tax rate schedule.

The 2001 Plan is currently administered by the board of directors. The board of directors has full and final authority to
select the individuals to receive options and to grant such options as well as a wide degree of flexibility in determining
the terms and conditions of options, including vesting provisions.

The exercise price of an option granted under the 2001 Plan cannot be less than 100% of the fair market value per
share of common stock on the date of the grant of the option. The exercise price of an incentive stock option granted
to a person owning more than 10% of the total combined voting power of the common stock must be at least 110% of
the fair market value per share of common stock on the date of the grant. Options may not be granted under the 2001
Plan on or after the tenth anniversary of the adoption of the 2001 Plan. Incentive stock options granted to a person
owning more than 10% of the voting power of the common stock cannot be exercisable for more than five years.

When an option is exercised, the purchase price of the underlying stock will be paid in cash, except that the board of
directors may permit the exercise price to be paid in any combination of cash, shares of stock having a fair market
value equal to the exercise price, or as otherwise determined by the 2001 Plan administrator.

If an optionee ceases to be an employee, director, or consultant with us, other than by reason of death, disability, or
retirement, all vested options may be exercised within three months following such event. However, if an optionee’s
employment or consulting relationship with us terminates for cause, or if a director of ours is removed for cause, all
unexercised options will terminate immediately. If an optionee ceases to be an employee or director of, or a consultant
to us, by reason of death, disability, or retirement, all vested options may be exercised within one year following such
event or such shorter period as is otherwise provided in the related agreement.

When a stock award expires or is terminated before it is exercised, the shares set aside for that award are returned to
the pool of shares available for future awards.

No option can be granted under the 2001 Plan after ten years following the earlier of the date the 2001 Plan was
adopted by the Board of Directors or the date the 2001 Plan was approved by our stockholders.

Limitation on Liability and Indemnification of Directors and Officers
Our amended certificate of incorporation provides that, to the fullest extent permitted by Delaware law, as it may be
amended from time to time, none of our directors will be personally liable to us or our stockholders for monetary

damages resulting from a breach of fiduciary duty as a director.
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Consequently, our directors will not be personally liable to us or our stockholders for monetary damages for any
breach of fiduciary duties as directors, except liability for the following:
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Any breach of their duty of loyalty to our company or our stockholders.

Acts or omissions not in good faith or which involve intentional misconduct
or a knowing violation of law.

Unlawful payments of dividends or unlawful stock repurchases or
redemptions as provided in Section 174 of the Delaware General Corporation
Law.

Any transaction from which the director derived an improper personal
benefit.

Our amended certificate of incorporation also provides discretionary indemnification for the benefit of our directors,
officers, and employees, to the fullest extent permitted by Delaware law, as it may be amended from time to time.
Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities Act may be permitted to our directors or officers,
or persons controlling us, pursuant to the foregoing provisions, we have been informed that in the opinion of the SEC,
such indemnification is against public policy as expressed in the Securities Act and is therefore unenforceable.

Pursuant to our amended bylaws, we are required to indemnify our directors, officers, employees and agents, and we
have the discretion to advance his or her related expenses, to the fullest extent permitted by law.

The limitation of liability and indemnification provisions in our certificate of incorporation and bylaws may
discourage stockholders from bringing a lawsuit against our directors for breach of their fiduciary duty. They may also
reduce the likelihood of derivative litigation against our directors and officers, even though an action, if successful,
might benefit us and other stockholders. Furthermore, a stockholder’s investment may be adversely affected to the
extent that we pay the costs of settlement and damage awards against directors and officers as required by these
indemnification provisions. At present, there is no pending litigation or proceeding involving any of our directors,
officers or employees regarding which indemnification is sought, and we are not aware of any threatened litigation
that may result in claims for indemnification.

CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

We had three loans payable to Robert T. Reed, Sr., the father of our founder, President and Chief Executive Officer,
Christopher J. Reed, in the aggregate principal amount of $252,358. These loans were made at various times between
1991 and 2003.

In November and December 2006, we issued an aggregate of 131,544 shares of common stock to Robert T. Reed, Sr.,
with respect to the conversion of an aggregate of $263,089 of the obligations, including $177,710 of principal and
$85,379 of accrued interest, on such notes. In addition, we repaid $74,648 of principal and $25,625 of accrued
interest, on the balance of such notes.

We had issued warrants to Mr. Reed to purchase up to 262,500 shares at $0.02 for his work in 1991 in helping the
start up of our company. The original term of the warrants was until December 31, 1997. We extended the term of
these warrants twice, once to December 31, 2000 and again to June 1, 2005. These extensions were granted in
consideration of the extensions Mr. Reed had granted us on the repayment of his various loans made to us. These
warrants were exercised in full on May 31, 2005.
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In September 2004, Robert T. Reed Jr., our Vice President and National Sales Manager - Mainstream and a brother of
Christopher J. Reed, pledged certain securities (which do not include any of our securities which are owned by Mr.
Reed) in his personal securities account on deposit with Merrill Lynch as collateral for repayment of our line of credit.
The amount of the line of credit is based on a percentage value of such securities. At December 31, 2006, the
outstanding balance on the line of credit was $-0-, and there was approximately $701,000 available under the line of
credit. The line of credit bears interest at a rate of 3.785% per annum plus LIBOR (9.1% as of December 31, 2006). In
consideration for Mr. Reed’s pledging his stock account at Merrill Lynch as collateral, we have agreed to pay Mr. Reed
5% per annum of the amount we borrow from Merrill Lynch, as a loan fee. During the years ended December 31,
2006 and 2005, we paid Mr. Reed $28,125 and $15,250, respectively, under this agreement. In addition, Christopher J.
Reed has pledged all of his shares of common stock to Robert T. Reed, Jr. as collateral for the shares pledged by
Robert T. Reed, Jr. No payments were required to be made to pay Mr. Reed from January 1, 2007 through June 30,
2007 under this agreement.

We believe that the terms of each of the foregoing transactions were as favorable to us as the terms that would have
been available to us from unaffiliated parties.

Beginning in January 2000, we extended an interest-free line of credit to one of our consultants, Peter Sharma, III who
was a member of our board until January 27, 2006. In July 2005, a repayment schedule began at $1,000 per month and
was to end with a balloon payment for the remaining balance, due on December 31, 2007. As of December 31, 2005,
management chose to reserve the entire amount of the outstanding balance of $124,210. Management is pursuing
collection efforts. Mr. Sharma was a registered representative of Brookstreet Securities Corporation until May 4,
2006. Brookstreet was one of the underwriters in our initial public offering. Mr. Sharma received compensation of
approximately $28,000 through his former relationship with Brookstreet.

At the time of each of the transactions listed above, except for the loan in October 2003 from Robert T. Reed, Sr., we
did not have any independent directors to ratify such transactions.

In 2005, we added three independent directors to our board. We will maintain at least two independent directors on
our board in the future. The Board of Directors, inclusive of at least a majority of these independent directors, who did
not have an interest in the transactions and had access, at our expense, to our or independent legal counsel, resolved to
reauthorize all material ongoing and past transactions, arrangements and relationships listed above. In addition, all
future material affiliated transactions and loans: (i) will be made or entered into on terms that are no less favorable to
us than those that can be obtained from unaffiliated third parties, (ii) and any forgiveness of loans must be approved
by a majority of our independent directors who do not have an interest in the transactions and who have access, at our
expense, to our or independent legal counsel, and (iii) will comply with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and other securities
laws and regulations.

From August 3, 2005 through April 7, 2006, we issued 333,156 shares of common stock in connection with this
offering. The shares may have been issued in violation of federal or state securities laws, or both, and may be subject
to rescission. On August 12, 2006, we made a rescission offer to all holders of the outstanding shares that we believe
are subject to rescission, pursuant to which we offered to repurchase these shares then outstanding from the holders.
At the expiration of the rescission offer on September 18, 2006, the rescission offer was accepted by 32 of the offerees
to the extent of 28,420 shares for an aggregate of $118,711.57, including statutory interest. This exposure amount was
calculated by reference to the acquisition price of $4.00 per share for the common stock in connection with the earlier
offering, plus accrued interest at the applicable statutory rate. If the rescission offer had been accepted by all offerees,
we would have been required to make an aggregate payment to the holders of these options and shares of up to
approximately $1,332,624, plus statutory interest.

We had entered into agreements with Mark Reed and Robert T. Reed, Jr. (the “designated purchasers”) that they would

irrevocably commit to purchase up to all of the shares in the rescission offer that are tendered to us for rescission.
Each of the designated purchasers is a brother of Christopher J. Reed, our Chief Executive Officer and the Chairman
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of the Board of Directors. Robert T. Reed, Jr. also is our Vice President and National Sales Manager - Mainstream and
a beneficial owner of approximately 4.44% of our common stock. We assigned to the designated purchasers the right
to purchase any rescission shares at 100% of the amount required to pay the rescission price under applicable state
law. Mark Reed agreed to purchase all of the rescission shares from stockholders who accepted the rescission offer.
The shares that were tendered for rescission were agreed to be purchased by others and not from our funds. The
rescission shares, purchased by the designated purchasers in the rescission offer, are deemed to be registered shares
for the benefit of the designated purchasers pursuant to the registration statement filed by us relating to the rescission
offer under the Securities Act, effective as of the commencement date of the rescission offer without any further
action on the part of the designated purchasers. There are no assurances that we will not be subject to penalties or fines
relating to these issuances. We believe that the rescission offer provides us with additional meritorious defenses
against any future claims relating to these shares. This transaction was ratified by a majority of our independent
directors who did not have an interest in the transactions and who had access, at our expense, to our or independent
legal counsel.
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SECTION 16(A) BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP REPORTING COMPLIANCE

Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”) requires our directors and
executive officers and beneficial holders of more than 10% of our common stock to file with the SEC initial reports of
ownership and reports of changes in ownership and reports of changes in ownership of our equity securities. As of the
date of this proxy statement, to our knowledge, based solely on our review of the copies of such reports received by
us, we believe that none of the Section 16 reporting persons has timely filed or filed the reports under Section 16(a) of
the Exchange Act for the year ended December 31, 2006.

PRINCIPAL AUDITOR FEES AND SERVICES

Weinberg & Company, P.A. (“Weinberg”) was our independent registered public accounting firm for the years ended
December 31, 2006 and 2005.

The following table shows the fees paid or accrued by us for the audit and other services provided by Weinberg for the
years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005.

2006 2005
Audit Fees $ 153,000 $ 144,000
Audit-Related Fees 0 0
Tax Fees 0 0
All Other Fees 0 0
Total $ 153,000 $ 144,000

As defined by the SEC, (i) “audit fees” are fees for professional services rendered by our principal accountant for the
audit of our annual financial statements and review of financial statements included in our Form 10-QSB, or for

services that are normally provided by the accountant in connection with statutory and regulatory filings or
engagements for those fiscal years; (ii) “audit-related fees” are fees for assurance and related services by our principal
accountant that are reasonably related to the performance of the audit or review of our financial statements and are not
reported under “audit fees;” (iii) “tax fees” are fees for professional services rendered by our principal accountant for tax
compliance, tax advice, and tax planning; and (iv) “all other fees” are fees for products and services provided by our
principal accountant, other than the services reported under “audit fees,” “audit-related fees,” and “tax fees.”

Audit Fees

Services provided to us by Weinberg with respect to such periods consisted of the audits of our financial statements
and limited reviews of the financial statements included in Quarterly Reports on Form 10-QSB. Weinberg also
provided services with respect to the filing of our registration statements in 2005 and 2006. Charges by Weinberg with
respect to these matters aggregated approximately $153,000 and $144,000, respectively, for the years ended December
31, 2006 and 2005.

Audit Related Fees

Weinberg did not provide any professional services to us with which would relate to “audit related fees.”

Tax Fees

Weinberg did not provide any professional services to us with which would relate to “tax fees.”
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All Other Fees

Weinberg did not provide any professional services to us with which would relate to “other fees.”
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Audit Committee Pre-Approval Policies and Procedures

Under the SEC’s rules, the Audit Committee is required to pre-approve the audit and non-audit services performed by
the independent registered public accounting firm in order to ensure that they do not impair the auditors’ independence.
The SEC’s rules specify the types of non-audit services that an independent auditor may not provide to its audit client
and establish the Audit Committee’s responsibility for administration of the engagement of the independent registered
public accounting firm.

Consistent with the SEC’s rules, the Audit Committee Charter requires that the Audit Committee review and
pre-approve all audit services and permitted non-audit services provided by the independent registered public
accounting firm to us or any of our subsidiaries. The Audit Committee may delegate pre-approval authority to a
member of the Audit Committee and if it does, the decisions of that member must be presented to the full Audit
Committee at its next scheduled meeting.

OTHER MATTERS

To the best knowledge, information and belief of the directors, there are no other matters which are to be acted upon at
the annual meeting. If such matters arise, the form of proxy provides that discretionary authority is conferred on the
designated persons in the enclosed form of proxy to vote with respect to such matters.

We have received no notice of any other items submitted for consideration at the meeting and except for reports of
operations and activities by management, which are for informational purposes only and require no action of approval
or disapproval, and consideration of the minutes of the preceding annual meeting for approval, which may involve
technical corrections to the text where actions taken were incorrectly recorded, but which require no action of
approval or disapproval of the subject matter, management neither knows of nor contemplates any other business that
will be presented for action by the stockholders at the annual meeting. If any further business is properly presented at
the annual meeting, the persons named as proxies will act in their discretion on behalf of the stockholders they
represent.

STOCKHOLDER PROPOSALS FOR THE NEXT ANNUAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS

Pursuant to Rule 14a-8 under the Exchange Act, stockholder proposals to be included in our Proxy Statement and
form of Proxy for the 2008 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, must be received by us at our principal executive offices
in Los Angeles, California, addressed to our Corporate Secretary, not later than July 22, 2008. With respect to any
stockholder proposal not submitted pursuant to Rule 14a-8 and which is not received by us prior to July 22, 2008, the
proxyholders shall have discretionary authority to vote against any proposal presented at the 2008 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders. These proposals must comply with applicable Delaware law, the rules and regulations promulgated by
the SEC and the procedures set forth in our Bylaws.

NO INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE OF
CERTAIN PORTIONS OF THIS PROXY STATEMENT

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in any of our previous filings made under the Securities Act or the
Exchange Act, as amended, that might incorporate future filings made by us under those statutes, the Audit
Committee Report is not to be incorporated by reference into any such prior filings, nor shall such graph or report be
incorporated by reference into any future filings made by us under those statutes.
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APPROVAL OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The contents of the proxy statement have been approved and our Board of Directors has authorized the mailing thereof
to our stockholders.

By Order of the Board of Directors,

[s/ Christopher J. Reed
Christopher J. Reed

President and Chief Executive Officer
Reed’s, Inc.

Los Angeles, California
October 17, 2007
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Appendix A

REED’S, INC.
2007 STOCK INCENTIVE AWARD PLAN
Section 1. Purpose.

(a) The purpose of this 2007 Stock Incentive Award Plan (the “Plan”) is to enable Reed’s, Inc. (the “Company’) and its
Subsidiaries and Affiliates to attract, retain, motivate, and reward employees, directors, and certain select service
providers of the Company and its Subsidiaries and Affiliates, to provide for equitable and competitive
compensation opportunities, to recognize individual contributions and reward achievement of Company goals,
and to promote the creation of long-term value for stockholders by strengthening the mutuality of interests
between those employees, directors and select service providers and the Company’s stockholders.

(b) The Plan authorizes stock-based and cash-based incentives for Participants. Awards may be made in the form of
(i) Incentive Stock Options; (ii) Nonqualified Stock Options; (iii) Restricted Stock; (iv) Stock Appreciation
Rights; (v) Stock Units; and (vi) any combination of the foregoing.

Section 2. Definitions. The following terms have the respective meanings, in addition to the capitalized terms
defined in Section 1 hereof or as otherwise defined throughout this document:

(a) “Affiliate” means any entity (other than the Company and any Subsidiary) that is designated by the Board as a
participating employer under the Plan.

(b) “Award” means any Option, SAR, Restricted Stock, Stock Unit, or Stock granted as a bonus or in lieu of another
award, Dividend Equivalent, or Other Stock-Based Award, together with any related right or interest, granted to a
Participant under the Plan.

(c) “Award Agreement” means any Option Agreement, SAR Agreement, Restricted Stock Agreement, Stock Unit
Agreement, or any other agreement under which the Company (or a Subsidiary or Affiliate) grants an Eligible
Person an Award.

(d) “Beneficiary” means the person(s) or trust(s) designated as being entitled to receive the benefits under a
Participant’s Award upon and following a Participant’s death. Unless otherwise determined by the Committee, a
Participant may designate one or more persons or one or more trusts as his or her Beneficiary.

(e) “Board” means the Company’s Board of Directors.

(f) “Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended from time to time, any successor thereto, and
including any regulations promulgated thereunder.

(g) “Committee” means the Compensation Committee of the Board or any other committee authorized by the Board
to administer the Plan of which the majority of the members are both Outside Directors and Non-Employee
Directors.

(h) “Corporate Transaction” means the occurrence of any of the following: (i) any person or group of persons (as
defined in Section 13(d) and 14(d) of the Exchange Act) together with its affiliates, excluding employee benefit
plans of the Company, is or becomes, directly or indirectly, the “beneficial owner” (as defined in Rule 13d-3 of the
Exchange Act) of securities of the Company representing 50% or more of the combined voting power of the
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Company’s then outstanding securities; or (ii) a merger or consolidation of the Company with any other
corporation or entity is consummated regardless of which entity is the survivor, other than a merger or
consolidation which would result in the voting securities of the Company outstanding immediately prior thereto
continuing to represent (either by remaining outstanding or being converted into voting securities of the surviving
entity or its parent) at least 50% of the combined voting power of the voting securities of the Company or such
surviving entity outstanding immediately after such merger or consolidation; or (iii) the Company is completely
liquidated or all or substantially all of the Company’s assets are sold.
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(i) “Covered Employee” means an Eligible Person who is an employee of the Company, a Subsidiary or an Affiliate.

(G) “Date of Grant” has the meaning set forth in Treasury Regulation Section 1.409A-1.

(k) “Disability’’ means a permanent and total disability as defined in Code Section 409A.

(1) “Dividend Equivalent” means a right, granted under this Plan, to receive cash, Stock, other Awards or other

property equal in value to all or a portion of the dividends paid with respect to a specified number of shares of
Stock.

(m) “Exchange Act” means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and shall include any successor

(n)

(0)

thereto.

“Fair Market Value” or “FMV” means the fair market value of Stock, Awards or other property as determined
in good faith by the Committee or under procedures established by the Committee as follows: if on the Date of
Grant or other determination date the Stock is listed on an established securities market, the Fair Market Value of
a share of Stock shall be the closing price of the Stock on such exchange or in such market (if there is more than
one such exchange or market the Committee shall determine the appropriate exchange or market) on the Date of
Grant or such other determination date (or if there is no such reported closing price, the Fair Market Value shall
be the mean between the highest bid and lowest asked prices or between the high and low sale prices on such
trading day) or, if no sale of Stock is reported for such trading day, on the next preceding day on which any sale
shall have been reported. If the Stock is not listed on such an exchange, quoted on such system or traded on such a
market, Fair Market Value shall be the value of the Stock as determined by the Committee in good faith. Fair
Market Value relating to the exercise price or base price of any Option or SAR shall at all times conform to the
applicable requirements of Code Section 409A. Notwithstanding any provision of this subsection to the contrary,
the Fair Market Value of an Award shall be established by the Committee immediately prior to the grant of such
Award.

“Incentive Stock Option” or “ISO” means any Option intended to be, designated as, and that otherwise qualifies
as an “Incentive Stock Option” within the meaning of Code Section 422.

(p) “Non-Employee Director” has the meaning set forth under Section 16 of the Exchange Act.
(q) “Nongqualified Stock Option” means any Option that is not an Incentive Stock Option.

(r) “Option” means a right to purchase Stock granted under Section 6(b).
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(s) “Outside Director” has the meaning set forth in Code Section 162(m).

(t) “Other Stock-Based Awards” means Awards granted to a Participant that are valued, in whole or in part, by
reference to, or otherwise based on, shares of Stock.

(u) “Participant” means a person who has been granted an Award under the Plan which remains outstanding,
including a person who is no longer an Eligible Person.

(v) “Restricted Stock” means Stock granted under this Plan which is subject to certain restrictions and to a risk of
forfeiture.

(w) “Section 16 Participant” means a Participant under the Plan who is subject to Section 16 of the Exchange Act.

(x) “Stock” means shares of the Company’s Common Stock, no par value per share, and any other equity securities of
the Company that may be substituted or resubstituted for such Stock.

(y) “Stock Appreciation Rights” or “SARs” means a right granted to a Participant under Section 6(c).

(z) “Stock Units” means a right granted under this Plan to receive Stock or other Awards or a combination thereof at
the end of a specified period. Stock Units subject to a risk of forfeiture may be designated as “Restricted Stock
Units.”

(aa) “Subsidiary” means any corporation (other than the Company or an Affiliate) in an unbroken chain of
corporations beginning with the Company, if each of the corporations (other than the last corporation in the
unbroken chain) owns stock possessing 50% or more of the total combined voting power of all classes of stock
in one of the other corporations in that chain.

Section 3. Administration.

(a) Authority of the Committee. The Plan shall be administered by the Committee. Any interpretation or
administration of the Plan by the Committee, and all actions and determinations of the Committee, shall be final,
binding and conclusive on the Company, its stockholders, Subsidiaries, Affiliates, all Participants in the Plan,
their respective legal representatives, successors and assigns, and all persons claiming under or through any of
them.

(b) Composition of the Committee. The Committee shall consist of not less than three directors, all of whom shall be
Outside Directors and Non-Employee Directors. Those Directors shall be appointed by the Board and shall serve
as the Committee at the pleasure of the Board. The function of the Committee specified in the Plan shall be
exercised by the entire Board if, and to the extent that, no Committee exists that has the authority to so administer
the Plan.

(c) Manner of Exercise of Committee Authority. The Committee shall have the full power and authority to interpret
and administer the Plan in its sole discretion, including exercising all the powers and authorities either specifically
granted to it under the Plan or necessary or advisable in the administration of the Plan. The Committee’s powers
and authorities include, without limitation, the sole ability to determine: eligibility criteria for Awards; persons to
whom, and the time or times at which, Awards shall be granted; number of shares of Stock to be covered by each
Award; interpretation of Plan provisions; amendments, rules, and regulations relating to the Plan; consideration, if
any, to be paid for Awards; specific terms and conditions of individual Awards; and Awards that qualify as
performance-based compensation under Code Section 162(m). The Committee shall have the power and authority
to make all other determinations deemed necessary or advisable for the administration of the Plan.
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Delegation of Authority. The Committee may delegate to one or more of its members or to one or more agents
such administrative duties as it may deem advisable, and the Committee or any person to whom it has delegated
duties as aforesaid may employ one or more persons to render advice with respect to any responsibility the
Committee or such person may have under the Plan; provided, that such delegation may not include the selection
or grant of Awards to Participants or Eligible Persons who are executive officers of the Company or any
Subsidiary or Affiliate, or Section 16 Participants.

Committee Vacancies. The Board shall fill all vacancies in the Committee. The Board may from time to time
appoint additional members to the Committee and may at any time remove one or more Committee members and
substitute others. One member of the Committee shall be selected by the Board as chairman. The Committee shall
hold its meetings at such times and places as it shall deem advisable. All determinations of the Committee shall be
made by not less than a majority of its members either present in person or participating by conference telephone
at a meeting or by written consent. The Committee shall keep minutes of its meetings. The Committee may
appoint a secretary to keep such minutes and may make such rules and regulations for the conduct of its business
as it shall deem advisable, but in accordance with the written charter prepared by the Board and which may be
amended from time to time by the Board. The secretary shall not need to be a member of the Committee or a
member of the Board.

(f) Limitation of Liability. The Committee and each member thereof, and any person acting pursuant to authority

(a)

delegated by the Committee, shall be entitled, in good faith, to rely or act upon any report or other information
furnished by any executive officer, other officer or employee of the Company or a Subsidiary or Affiliate, the
Company’s independent auditors, consultants or any other agents assisting in the administration of the Plan.
Members of the Committee, any person acting pursuant to authority delegated by the Committee, and any officer
or employee of the Company or a Subsidiary or Affiliate acting at the direction or on behalf of the Committee or a
delegee shall not be personally liable for any action or determination taken or made in good faith with respect to
the Plan, and shall, to the extent permitted by law, be fully indemnified and protected by the Company with
respect to any such action or determination.

Section 4. Stock Subject to Plan.

Overall Number of Shares Available. Subject to adjustment as provided under Section 11(c), the total number of
shares of Stock reserved and available for delivery in connection with Awards under the Plan shall be 1,500,000.
Any shares of Stock issued under the Plan may consist, in whole or in part, of authorized and unissued shares or
treasury shares.

(b) Accounting Procedures. The Committee may adopt reasonable accounting procedures to ensure appropriate

counting of Stock subject to the Plan, avoid double counting (as, for example, in the case of tandem or substitute
Awards), and make adjustments in accordance with this Section 4(b). Shares shall be counted against those
reserved to the extent such shares have been delivered and are no longer subject to a risk of forfeiture.
Accordingly, (i) to the extent that an Award under the Plan is canceled, expired, forfeited, settled in cash, settled
by delivery of fewer shares than the number underlying the Award, or otherwise terminated without delivery of
Stock to the Participant, the Stock retained by or returned to the Company will not be deemed to have been
delivered under the Plan; and (ii) Stock that is withheld from such Award or separately surrendered by the
Participant in payment of the exercise price or taxes relating to such Award shall be deemed to constitute Stock
not delivered and will be available under the Plan. The Committee may determine that Awards may be
outstanding that relate to more Stock than the aggregate shares of Stock remaining available under the Plan so
long as Awards will not in fact result in delivery and vesting of shares of Stock in excess of the number then
available under the Plan. In addition, in the case of any Award granted in assumption of or in substitution for an
award of a company or business acquired by the Company or a Subsidiary or Affiliate or with which the
Company or a Subsidiary or Affiliate combines, shares delivered or deliverable in connection with such assumed
or substitute Award shall not be counted against the number of shares of Stock reserved under the Plan.
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(¢) Individual Annual Award Limits. No Participant may be granted Options or other Awards under the Plan with
respect to an aggregate of more than 75,000 shares of Stock (subject to adjustment as otherwise may be provided
for throughout this Plan) during any calendar year.

Section 5. Eligibility.

(a) Eligibility. Grants of Awards may be made from time to time to those officers, employees and directors of the
Company or any Subsidiary or Affiliate who are designated by the Committee in its sole and exclusive discretion
as eligible to receive such Awards (“Eligible Persons’). Eligible Persons may include, but shall not necessarily be
limited to, employees, officers, and directors of the Company and any Subsidiary or Affiliate; however, Options
intended to qualify as ISOs shall be granted only to Eligible Persons while actually employed by the Company, a
Subsidiary or an Affiliate. The Committee may grant more than one Award to the same Eligible Person. No
Award shall be granted to any Eligible Person during any period of time when such Eligible Person is on a leave
of absence. Awards to be granted to directors, which may include members of the Committee, must be approved
and granted by a majority of the disinterested members of the Board.

(b) Substitutions/Acquisitions. Holders of awards granted by a company or business acquired by the Company or a
Subsidiary or Affiliate, or with which the Company or a Subsidiary or Affiliate combines, may be eligible for
substitute Awards under this Plan that will be granted in assumption of or in substitution for such outstanding
awards in connection with such acquisition or combination transaction. In such cases, holders of the assumed or
substituted awards will become Participants in the Plan; provided, however, that such assumption or substitution
in no way causes an Award under this Plan to become subject to the terms and conditions of Code Section 409A.

(c) Participation. An Eligible Person shall become a Participant in the Plan and shall perfect his or her Award only
after he or she has completed the applicable Award Agreement in a manner that is satisfactory to the Committee
and has delivered said Award Agreement to the Committee. A Participant shall continue his or her participation in
the Plan, even if no longer an Eligible Person, until any and all of his or her interests that are held under the Plan
expire or are paid.

Section 6. Specific Terms of Awards Granted Under the Plan.

(a) General Terms of All Awards. All Awards granted under the Plan, including Awards of any Stock Units, shall be
evidenced by individual agreements between the Company (or Subsidiary or Affiliate) and the applicable Eligible
Person (an “Award Agreement”). Award Agreements may provide for grants of Awards on the specific terms and
conditions set forth in this Section 6. Alternatively, the Committee may impose on any individual Award, as
specified in the individual Award Agreement, such additional terms and conditions, not inconsistent with the
provisions of the Plan, or applicable law, as the Committee shall determine, including terms requiring forfeiture of
Awards in the event of termination of employment or service by the Participant and terms permitting a Participant
to make elections relating to his or her Award. The Committee shall retain full power and discretion with respect
to any term or condition of an Award that is not mandatory under the Plan and the terms of the Award Agreement;
provided, that the exercise of such discretion shall in no event cause an Award that is not otherwise subject to the
terms and conditions of Code Section 409A to become “subject to the terms and conditions of Code Section 409A”
unless otherwise agreed upon between the Company (or Subsidiary or Affiliate) and the Eligible Person; provided
further, that, to the extent an Award is subject to the terms and conditions of Code Section 409A, the Committee
shall provide the Award in the form and manner required by Code Section 409A, unless otherwise agreed upon by
the Company (or Subsidiary or Affiliate) and Eligible Person. For purposes of the Plan, “subject to the terms and
conditions of Code Section 409A,” means the applicable Award or compensation subject to said Award provides
for a deferral of compensation as determined under Code Section 409A. The Committee shall require the payment
of lawful consideration for an Award to the extent necessary to satisfy the requirements of the Delaware General
Company Law, and may otherwise require payment of consideration for an Award except as limited by the Plan
and as otherwise required by applicable law.
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(b) Option Awards. Options granted under the Plan shall be evidenced by an agreement (“Option Agreements”).
Options that are awarded may be of one of two types which shall be indicated on the face of the Option
Agreement: (i) ISOs or (ii) Nonqualified Stock Options. The Committee is authorized to grant Options to
Participants on the following terms and conditions:

(i) Option Term: Time and Method of Exercise. The Committee shall determine the term of each Option; provided
that in no event shall the term of any Option exceed a period of ten years from the Date of Grant. The Committee
shall determine the time or times at which or the circumstances under which an Option may be exercised in whole
or in part (including based on achievement of performance goals and/or future service requirements), the methods
by which such exercise price may be paid or deemed to be paid and the form of such payment (including, without
limitation, cash, Stock (including by withholding Stock deliverable upon exercise), other Awards or awards
granted under other plans of the Company or any Subsidiary or Affiliate, or other property), and the methods by or
forms in which Stock will be delivered or deemed to be delivered in satisfaction of Options to Participants.

(i) Exercise Price. The option price per share of Stock purchasable under a Nonqualified Stock Option or an
Incentive Stock Option shall be determined by the Committee at the time of grant, shall be set forth on the
applicable Option Agreement, and shall be not less than 100% of the Fair Market Value of the Stock at the Date
of Grant (or, with respect to an Incentive Stock Option, 110% of the Fair Market Value of the Stock at the Date of
Grant in the case of a Participant who at the Date of Grant owns Stock possessing more than 10% of the total
combined voting power of all classes of Stock of the Company or its parent or subsidiary corporations (as
determined under Code Sections 424(d), (e) and (f))).

(iii)) Non-Transferability of Options. No Option shall be transferable by any Participant other than by will or by the
laws of descent and distribution or pursuant to a qualified domestic relations order (as defined in the Code or the
Employment Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended) except that, if so provided in the Option
Agreement, the Participant may transfer the Option, other than an ISO, during the Participant’s lifetime to one or
more members of the Participant’s family, to one or more trusts for the benefit of one or more of the Participant’s
family, or to a partnership or partnerships of members of the Participant’s family, or to a charitable organization
as defined in Code Section 501(c)(3), provided that the transfer would not result in the loss of any exemption
under Rule 16b-3 of the Exchange Act with respect to any Option. The transferee of an Option will be subject to
all restrictions, terms and conditions applicable to the Option prior to its transfer, except that the Option will not
be further transferable by the transferee other than by will or by the laws of descent and distribution.
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(iv) Disposition upon Termination of Employment.

Termination by Death. Subject to Sections 6(b)(i) and 6(b)(v), if any Participant’s employment with the Company
or any Subsidiary or Affiliate terminates by reason of death, any Option held by that Participant shall become

immediately and automatically vested and exercisable. If termination of a Participant’s employment is due to
death, then any Option held by that Participant may thereafter be exercised for a period of two years (or with

respect to an ISO, for a period of one year) (or such other period as the Committee may specify at or after grant)

from the date of death. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in no event will any Option be exercisable after the

expiration of the option period of Option. The balance of the Option shall be forfeited if not exercised within two

years (or one year with respect to ISOs).

Termination by Reason of Disability. Subject to Sections 6(b)(i) and 6(b)(v), if a Participant’s employment with
the Company or any Subsidiary or Affiliate terminates by reason of Disability, any Option held by that

Participant shall become immediately and automatically vested and exercisable. If termination of a Participant’s
employment is due to Disability, then any Option held by that Participant may thereafter be exercised by the

Participant or by the Participant’s duly authorized legal representative if the Participant is unable to exercise the
Option as a result of the Participant’s Disability, for a period of two years (or with respect to an ISO, for a period
of one year) (or such other period as the Committee may specify at or after grant) from the date of such

termination of employment; and if the Participant dies within that two-year period (or such other period as the

Committee may specify at or after grant), any unexercised Option held by that Participant shall thereafter be

exercisable by the estate of the Participant (acting through its fiduciary) for the duration of the two-year period

from the date of that termination of employment. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in no event will any Option be

exercisable after the expiration of the option period of such Option. The balance of the Option shall be forfeited if

not exercised within two years (or one year with respect to ISOs).

Termination for Cause. Unless otherwise determined by the Committee at or after the time of granting any
Option, if a Participant’s employment with the Company or any Subsidiary or Affiliate terminates for Cause, any
unvested Options will be forfeited and terminated immediately upon termination and any vested Options held by
that Participant shall terminate 30 days after the date employment terminates. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in
no event will any Option be exercisable after the expiration of the option period of such Option. The balance of
the Option shall be forfeited.

Other Termination/Retirement. Unless otherwise determined by the Committee at or after the time of granting
any Option, if a Participant retires from employment with the Company (or a Subsidiary or Affiliate) or a
Participant’s employment with the Company (or a Subsidiary or Affiliate) terminates for any reason other than
death, Disability, or for Cause, all Options held by that Participant shall terminate three months after the date
employment terminates. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in no event will any Option be exercisable after the
expiration of the option period (which shall be established in the Option Agreement) of such Option. The balance
of the Option shall be forfeited.
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Leave of Absence. In the event a Participant is granted a leave of absence by the Company or any Subsidiary or
Affiliate to enter military service or because of sickness, the Participant’s employment with the Company or such
Subsidiary or Affiliate will not be considered terminated, and the Participant shall be deemed an employee of the
Company or such Subsidiary or Affiliate during such leave of absence or any extension thereof granted by the
Company or such Subsidiary or Affiliate. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the case of an ISO, a leave of
absence of more than 90 days will be viewed as a termination of employment unless continued employment is

guaranteed by contract or statute.

Incentive Stock Options. Notwithstanding Sections 6(b)(iii) and 6(b)(iv), an ISO shall be exercisable by (A) a
Participant’s authorized legal representative (if the Participant is unable to exercise the ISO as a result of the
Participant’s Disability) only if, and to the extent, permitted by Section 422 of the Code and (B) by the Participant’s
estate, in the case of death, or authorized legal representative, in the case of Disability, no later than ten years
from the date the ISO was granted (in addition to any other restrictions or limitations that may apply). Anything in
the Plan to the contrary notwithstanding, no term or provision of the Plan relating to ISOs shall be interpreted,
amended or altered, nor shall any discretion or authority granted under the Plan be exercised, so as to disqualify
the Plan under Code Section 422 of the Code, or, without the consent of the Participants affected, to disqualify

any ISO under Code Section 422.

Stock Appreciation Rights. SARs granted under the Plan shall be evidenced by an agreement (“SAR
Agreements”). The Committee is authorized to grant SARs to Participants on the following terms and conditions:

Right to Payment. An SAR shall confer on the Participant to whom it is granted a right to receive, upon exercise
thereof, the excess of (A) the Fair Market Value of one share of Stock on the date of exercise over (B) the grant
price of the SAR as determined by the Committee. The grant price of each SAR shall be not less than the Fair
Market Value of a share of Stock on the Date of Grant of such SAR.

Other Terms. The Committee shall determine the term of each SAR, provided that in no event shall the term of an
SAR exceed a period of ten years from the Date of Grant. The Committee shall determine at the Date of Grant or
thereafter, the time or times at which and the circumstances under which an SAR may be exercised in whole or in
part (including based on achievement of performance goals and/or future service requirements), the method of
exercise, method of settlement, form of consideration payable in settlement, method by or forms in which Stock
will be delivered or deemed to be delivered to Participants, whether or not an SAR shall be free-standing or in
tandem or combination with any other Award. The Committee may require that an outstanding Option be
exchanged for an SAR exercisable for Stock having vesting, expiration, and other terms substantially the same as
the Option, so long as such exchange will not result in additional accounting expense to the Company.

Restricted Stock. Restricted Stock granted under the Plan shall be evidenced by an agreement (“Restricted Stock
Agreements”). The Committee is authorized to grant Restricted Stock to Participants on the following terms and

conditions:
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(i) Grant and Restrictions. Restricted Stock shall be subject to such restrictions on transferability, risk of forfeiture
and other restrictions, if any, as the Committee may impose, which restrictions may lapse separately or in
combination at such times, under such circumstances (including based on achievement of performance goals
and/or future service requirements), in such installments or otherwise and under such other circumstances as the
Committee may determine at the Date of Grant, and which shall be set forth on the applicable Restricted Stock
Agreement, or thereafter. Except to the extent restricted under the terms of the Plan and any Restricted Stock
Agreement, a Participant granted Restricted Stock shall have all of the rights of a stockholder, including the right
to vote the Restricted Stock and the right to receive dividends thereon; provided, however, that the Committee
may require mandatory reinvestment of dividends in additional Restricted Stock, may provide that no dividends
will be paid on Restricted Stock or retained by the Participant, or may impose other restrictions on the rights
attached to Restricted Stock.

(i1) Forfeiture. Except as otherwise determined by the Committee, upon termination of employment or service during
the applicable restriction period, Restricted Stock that is at that time subject to restrictions shall be forfeited and
reacquired by the Company; provided that the Committee may provide, by rule or regulation or in any Restricted
Stock Agreement, or may determine in any individual case, that restrictions or forfeiture conditions relating to
Restricted Stock will lapse in whole or in part, including in the event of terminations resulting from specified
causes.

(iii) Certificates for Stock. Restricted Stock granted under the Plan shall be evidenced in such manner as the
Committee shall determine. Certificates representing Restricted Stock shall be registered in the name of the
Participant and shall bear an appropriate legend referring to the terms, conditions and restrictions applicable to
the Award of such Restricted Stock. The Company shall retain physical possession of the stock certificates until
the time that the restrictions thereon have lapsed, and the Participant shall have delivered a stock power to the
Company, endorsed in blank, relating to the Stock covered by such Restricted Stock.

(iv) Dividends and Splits. As a condition to the grant of an Award of Restricted Stock, the Committee may require
that any dividends paid on a share of Restricted Stock shall be either (A) paid with respect to such Restricted
Stock at the dividend payment date in cash, in kind, or in a number of shares of unrestricted Stock having a Fair
Market Value equal to the amount of such dividends, or (B) automatically reinvested in additional Restricted
Stock or held in kind, which shall be subject to the same terms as applied to the original Restricted Stock to
which it relates, or (C) deferred as to payment, either as a cash deferral or with the amount or value thereof
automatically deemed reinvested in Stock Units, other Awards or other investment vehicles, subject to such
terms as the Committee shall determine or permit a Participant to elect. Unless otherwise determined by the
Committee, Stock distributed in connection with a Stock split or Stock dividend, and other property distributed as
a dividend, shall be subject to restrictions and a risk of forfeiture to the same extent as the Restricted Stock with
respect to which such Stock or other property has been distributed.

(e) Stock Units. Stock Units granted under the Plan, whether or not subject to restrictions, shall be evidenced by an
agreement (‘“Stock Unit Agreement”). The Committee is authorized to grant Stock Units to Participants, subject to
the following terms and conditions:

(1) Award and Restrictions. Issuance of Stock will occur upon expiration of the holding period, if any, specified for
the Stock Units by the Committee. In addition, Stock Units shall be subject to such restrictions on transferability,
risk of forfeiture and other restrictions, if any, as the Committee may impose, which restrictions may lapse at the
expiration of the holding period or at earlier specified times (including based on achievement of performance
goals and/or future service requirements), separately or in combination, in installments or otherwise, and under
such other circumstances as the Committee may determine at the Date of Grant or thereafter. Stock Units may be
settled by delivery of Stock, other Awards, or a combination thereof, as determined by the Committee at the Date
of Grant or thereafter.
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(i1) Forfeiture. Except as otherwise determined by the Committee, upon termination of employment or service during

the applicable deferral period or portion thereof to which forfeiture conditions apply (as provided in the Award
document evidencing the Stock Units), all Stock Units that are at that time subject to such forfeiture conditions
shall be forfeited; provided that the Committee may provide, by rule or regulation or in any Award document, or
may determine in any individual case, that restrictions or forfeiture conditions relating to Stock Units will lapse in
whole or in part, including in the event of terminations resulting from specified causes. Stock Units subject to a
risk of forfeiture shall be designated as “Restricted Stock Units” unless otherwise determined by the Committee.

(iii) Dividend Equivalents. Unless otherwise determined by the Committee, Dividend Equivalents on the specified

®

(2)
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number of shares of Stock underlying Stock Units shall be either (A) paid with respect to such Stock Units at the
dividend payment date in cash or in shares of unrestricted Stock having a Fair Market Value equal to the amount
of such dividends, or (B) deferred with respect to such Stock Units, either as a cash deferral or as a number of
additional Stock Units with a value equal to the value of the Dividend Equivalents or with such value otherwise
deemed reinvested in additional Stock Units, other Awards or other investment vehicles having a Fair Market
Value equal to the amount of such dividends, as the Committee shall determine or permit a Participant to elect;
provided, however, that the Committee may provide that no Dividend Equivalents will be paid on a given Award
of Stock Units.

Bonus Stock and Awards in Lieu of Obligations. The Committee is authorized to grant to Participants Stock as a
bonus, or to grant Stock or other Awards in lieu of obligations of the Company or a Subsidiary or Affiliate to pay
cash or deliver other property under the Plan or under other plans or compensatory arrangements, subject to such
terms as shall be determined by the Committee; provided, that such grants shall not be in lieu of prior promises to
pay deferrals of compensation so that any Award under this Plan that would not otherwise be subject to Code
Section 409A does not become subject to Code Section 409A due to a grant in lieu of other obligation of the
Company, a Subsidiary or an Affiliate; provided further, that any payment of such Stock as a bonus shall be paid
or transferred to the Participant on the March 15 of the calendar year following the calendar year in which the
Participant earned the bonus.

Other Stock-Based Awards. The Committee is authorized, subject to limitations under applicable law, to grant to
Participants such other Awards that may be denominated or payable in, valued in whole or in part by reference to,
or otherwise based on, or related to, Stock or factors that may influence the value of Stock, including, without
limitation, convertible or exchangeable debt securities, other rights convertible or exchangeable into Stock,
purchase rights for Stock, Awards with value and payment contingent upon performance of the Company or
business units thereof or any other factors designated by the Committee, and Awards valued by reference to the
book value of Stock or the value of securities of or the performance of specified subsidiaries or affiliates or other
business units. The Committee shall determine the terms and conditions of such Awards. Stock delivered pursuant
to an Award in the nature of a purchase right granted under this Section shall be purchased for such consideration,
paid for at such times, by such methods, and in such forms, including, without limitation, cash, Stock, other
Awards, or other property, as the Committee shall determine. Cash awards, as an element of or supplement to any
other Award under the Plan, may also be granted pursuant to this Section.
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Section 7. Additional Provisions Applicable to Awards.

(a) Stand-Alone, Additional, Tandem, and Substitute Awards. Awards granted under the Plan may, in the discretion
of the Committee, be granted either alone or in addition to, in tandem with, or in substitution or exchange for, any
other Award or any award granted under another plan of the Company, any Subsidiary or Affiliate, or any
business entity to be acquired by the Company or a Subsidiary or Affiliate, or any other right of a Participant to
receive payment from the Company or any Subsidiary or Affiliate. Awards granted in addition to or in tandem
with other Awards or awards may be granted either as of the same time as or a different time from the grant of
such other Awards. Subject to the Plan’s terms, the Committee may determine that, in granting a new Award, the
in-the-money value or fair value of any surrendered Award or award or the value of any other right to payment
surrendered by the Participant may be applied to the purchase of any other Award; provided, that such surrender
does not result in a “modification,” “extension,” or “renewal,” of a Stock right, as determined under Code Section
409A, so that such Stock rights thereby become subject to the terms and conditions of Code Section 409A. Any
transaction otherwise authorized under this Section 7(a) remains subject to all applicable restrictions under the
Plan and may not result in an Award that is not otherwise subject to the terms and conditions of Code Section
409A becoming subject to the terms and conditions of Code Section 409A by virtue of such transaction; in such
event, any transaction that would otherwise be permissible under this Section 7(a) shall be prohibited unless the
Participant and the Company mutually agree in writing to subject an Award to Code Section 409A under this
Section 7(a).

(b) Form and Timing of Payment Under Awards; Deferrals. Subject to the terms of the Plan and any applicable
Award Agreement, payments to be made by the Company or a Subsidiary or Affiliate upon the exercise of an
Option or other Award or settlement of an Award may be made in such forms as the Committee shall determine,
including, without limitation, cash, Stock, other Awards or other property, and may be made in a single payment
or transfer, or in installments.

(c) Certain Limitations on Awards to Ensure Compliance with Code Section 409A.

(1) 409A Awards and Deferrals. Other provisions of the Plan notwithstanding, the terms of any “409A Award” (which
for this purpose means only such an Award held by a Participant subject to United States federal income tax and
which is subject to the terms and conditions of Code Section 409A), including any authority of the Company and
rights of the Participant with respect to the 409A Award, shall be limited to those terms permitted under Code
Section 409A, and any terms or conditions not permitted under Code Section 409A shall be automatically
modified and limited to the extent necessary to conform said Award with Code Section 409A. The following rules
will apply to 409A Awards:

(A) If a Participant is permitted to elect to defer an Award or any payment under an Award, such election shall be
permitted only at times in compliance with Code Section 409A (including transition rules thereunder);

(B) The Company shall have no authority to accelerate or delay distributions relating to 409A Awards in excess of
the authority permitted under Code Section 409A;
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Any distribution of a 409A Award triggered by a Participant’s termination of employment shall be made only at
the time that the Participant has had a “Separation from Service” within the meaning of Code Section 409A (or at
such earlier time preceding a termination of employment that there occurs another event triggering a distribution
under the Plan or the applicable Award Agreement in compliance with Code Section 409A);

Any distribution of a 409A Award to a “Specified Employee,” as determined under Code Section 409A, after
Separation from Service, shall occur at the expiration of the six-month period following said Specified
Employee’s Separation from Service. In the case of installment payments, this six-month delay shall not affect the
timing of any installment otherwise payable after the six-month delay period;

In the case of any distribution of a 409A Award, the time and form of payment for such distribution will be
specified in the Award Agreement, which will be provided to the Participant in the manner provided for under
Code Section 409A; provided that, if the time and form of payment for such distribution is not otherwise
specified in the Plan or an Award Agreement or other governing document, the distribution shall be made in one
lump sum amount on March 15 in the calendar year following the calendar year at which the settlement of the
Award is specified to occur, any applicable restriction lapses, or there is no longer a substantial risk of forfeiture
applicable to such amounts;

Distribution upon Vesting. In the case of any Award providing for a distribution upon the lapse of a substantial
risk of forfeiture, the time and form of payment for such distribution will be specified in the Award Agreement,
which will be provided to the Participant in the manner provided for under Code Section 409A; provided that, if
the timing and form of payment of such distribution is not otherwise specified in the Plan or an Award Agreement
or other governing document, the distribution shall be made in one lump sum amount on March 15 of the calendar
year following the calendar year in which the substantial risk of forfeiture lapses.

(iii) Scope and Application of This Provision. For purposes of the Plan, references to a term or event (including any

(a)

®
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authority or right of the Company or a Participant) being “permitted” under Code Section 409A mean that the
term or event will not cause the Participant to be deemed to be in constructive receipt of compensation relating to
the 409A Award prior to the distribution of cash, shares or other property or to be liable for payment of interest
or a tax penalty under Code Section 409A.

Section 8. Corporate Transactions.

Corporate Transaction in which Awards are not Assumed. Upon the occurrence of a Corporate Transaction in
which outstanding Options, Share Appreciation Rights, Restricted Stock Awards, Stock Units, and Other
Stock-Based Awards are not being assumed or continued:

All outstanding shares of Restricted Stock shall be deemed to have vested, and all Stock Units shall be deemed to
have vested and the shares of Stock subject thereto shall be delivered, immediately prior to the occurrence of such
Corporate Transaction, and

(i1) Either of the following two actions shall be taken:
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(A) fifteen days prior to the scheduled consummation of a Corporate Transaction, all Options and Share Appreciation
Rights outstanding hereunder shall become immediately exercisable and shall remain exercisable for a period of
fifteen days, or

(B) the Committee may elect, in its sole discretion, to cancel any outstanding Awards of Options, Restricted Stock,
Stock Units, and/or Share Appreciation Rights and pay or deliver, or cause to be paid or delivered, to the holder
thereof an amount in cash or securities having a value (as determined by the Committee acting in good faith), in
the case of Restricted Stock or Stock Units, equal to the formula or fixed price per share paid to holders of shares
of Stock and, in the case of Options or Share Appreciation Rights, equal to the product of the number of shares of
Stock subject to the Option or Share Appreciation Right (the “Award Shares”) multiplied by the amount, if any, by
which (I) the formula or fixed price per share paid to holders of shares of Stock pursuant to such transaction
exceeds (II) the Option Price or Share Appreciation Right Exercise Price applicable to such Award Shares.

With respect to the Company’s establishment of an exercise window, (i) any exercise of an Option or Share
Appreciation Right during such fifteen-day period shall be conditioned upon the consummation of the event and shall
be effective only immediately before the consummation of the event, and (ii) upon consummation of any Corporate
Transaction, the Plan and all outstanding but unexercised Options and Share Appreciation Rights shall terminate. The
Committee shall send notice of an event that will result in such a termination to all individuals who hold Options and
Share Appreciation Rights not later than the time at which the Company gives notice thereof to its stockholders.

(b) Corporate Transaction in which Awards are Assumed. The Plan, Options, Share Appreciation Rights, Restricted
Stock Awards, Stock Units, and Other Stock-Based Awards theretofore granted shall continue in the manner and
under the terms so provided in the event of any Corporate Transaction to the extent that provision is made in
writing in connection with such Corporate Transaction for the assumption or continuation of the Options, Share
Appreciation Rights, Restricted Stock Awards, Stock Units, and Other Stock-Based Awards theretofore granted,
or for the substitution for such Options, Share Appreciation Rights, Restricted Stock Awards, Stock Units, and
Other Stock-Based Awards for new common stock options and stock appreciation rights and new common stock
units and restricted stock relating to the stock of a successor entity, or a parent or subsidiary thereof, with
appropriate adjustments as to the number of shares (disregarding any consideration that is not common stock) and
option and stock appreciation right exercise prices in accordance with the provisions of Sections 5(b) and 10(c).

Section 9. Additional Award Forfeiture Provisions.

The Committee may condition a Participant’s right to receive a grant of an Award, to exercise the Award, to receive a
settlement or distribution with respect to the Award or to retain cash, Stock, other Awards, or other property acquired
in connection with an Award, upon compliance by the Participant with specified conditions that protect the business
interests of the Company and its Subsidiaries and Affiliates from harmful actions of the Participant, including
conditions relating to non-competition, confidentiality of information relating to or possessed by the Company,
non-solicitation of customers, suppliers, and employees of the Company, cooperation in litigation, non-disparagement
of the Company and its Subsidiaries and Affiliates and the officers and directors of the Company and its Subsidiaries
and Affiliates, and other restrictions upon or covenants of the Participant, including during specified periods following
termination of employment or service to the Company. Accordingly, an Award Agreement may include terms
providing for a “clawback” or forfeiture from the Participant of the profit or gain realized by a Participant in connection
with an Award, including cash or other proceeds received upon sale of Stock acquired in connection with an Award.
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Section 10. General Provisions.
(a) Compliance with Legal and Other Requirements.

(i) The Company may, to the extent deemed necessary or advisable by the Committee, postpone the issuance or
delivery of Stock or payment of other benefits under any Award until completion of such registration or
qualification of such Stock or other required action under any federal or state law, rule or regulation, listing or
other required action with respect to any stock exchange or automated quotation system upon which the Stock or
other securities of the Company are listed or quoted, or compliance with any other obligation of the Company, as
the Committee may consider appropriate, and may require any Participant to make such representations, furnish
such information and comply with or be subject to such other conditions as it may consider appropriate in
connection with the issuance or delivery of Stock or payment of other benefits in compliance with applicable laws,
rules, and regulations, listing requirements, or other obligations. The foregoing notwithstanding, in connection
with a Corporate Transaction, the Company shall take or cause to be taken no action, and shall undertake or permit
to arise no legal or contractual obligation, that results or would result in any postponement of the issuance or
delivery of Stock or payment of benefits under any Award or the imposition of any other conditions on such
issuance, delivery or payment, to the extent that such postponement or other condition would represent a greater
burden on a Participant than existed on the 90th day preceding the Corporate Transaction.

(i1) If the Participant is subject to the reporting requirements of Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
as amended, the grant of this Option shall not be effective until such person complies with the reporting
requirement of Section 16(a).

(b) Limits on Transferability; Beneficiaries.

(i) Awards granted under the Plan shall not be transferable other than by will or by the laws of descent, and Options
may be exercised as provided for under Section 6(b). A Beneficiary, transferee, or other person claiming any
rights under the Plan from or through any Participant (except in the case of an Option which is governed by
Section 6(b)) shall be subject to all terms and conditions of the Plan and any Award Agreement applicable to such
Participant, except as otherwise determined by the Committee, and to any additional terms and conditions deemed
necessary or appropriate by the Committee. Any attempted sale, pledge, assignment, hypothecation or other
transfer of an Award contrary to the provisions hereof and the levy of any execution, attachment or similar process
upon an Award shall be null and void and without force or effect and shall result in automatic termination of the
Award.

(i) (A) As a condition to the transfer of any shares of Stock issued upon exercise of an Award granted under this
Plan, the Company may require an opinion of counsel, satisfactory to the Company, to the effect that such
transfer will not be in violation of the Securities Act of 1933 or any other applicable securities laws or that such
transfer has been registered under federal and all applicable state securities laws; (B) further, the Company shall
be authorized to refrain from delivering or transferring shares of Stock issued under this Plan until the Board
determines that such delivery or transfer will not violate applicable securities laws and the Participant has
tendered to the Company any federal, state or local tax owed by the Participant as a result of exercising the
Award, or disposing of any Stock, when the Company has a legal liability to satisfy such tax; (C) the Company
shall not be liable for damages due to delay in the delivery or issuance of any stock certificate for any reason
whatsoever, including, but not limited to, a delay caused by listing requirements of any securities exchange or any
registration requirements under the Securities Act of 1933, the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, or under any
other state or federal law, rule or regulations; (D) the Company is under no obligation to take any action or incur
any expense in order to register or qualify the delivery or transfer of shares of Stock under applicable securities
laws or to perfect any exemption from such registration or qualification; and (E) furthermore, the Company will
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have no liability to any Participant for refusing to deliver or transfer shares of Stock if such refusal is based upon
the foregoing provisions of this Paragraph.
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(c) Effect of Certain Changes. In the event of any merger, reorganization, consolidation, recapitalization, share

®

dividend, share split, combination of shares or other change in corporate structure of the Company affecting the
Stock, such substitution or adjustment shall be made in the aggregate number of Stock reserved for issuance under
the Plan, in the number and option price of Stock subject to outstanding Options granted under the Plan, in the
number and purchase price of Stock subject to outstanding Award Agreements granted under the Plan, including
the number of SARs, the number of shares of Restricted Stock, and any other outstanding Awards granted under
the Plan as may be approved by the Committee, in its sole discretion, but the number of Stock subject to any
Award shall always be a whole number. Any fractional shares shall be eliminated. Notwithstanding the foregoing,
any event that results in a reorganization, consolidation, recapitalization, share dividend, share split, combination
of shares or other change in corporate structure of the Company that affects the Company’s Stock, any substitution
or adjustment of the number of shares of Stock underlying the applicable Award shall be done in accordance with
Treasury Regulation Section 1.409A-1(b)(5), so that such Award does not result in an extension, modification, or
renewal, as such terms are defined under Code Section 409A.

(d) Tax Provisions.

Withholding. The Committee shall so require, as a condition of exercise, each Participant to agree that: (A) no
later than the date of exercise of any Option granted hereunder, the optionee will pay to the Company or make
arrangements satisfactory to the Committee regarding payment of any federal, state or local taxes of any kind
required by law to be withheld upon the exercise of such Option; and (B) the Company shall, to the extent
permitted or required by law, have the right to deduct federal, state and local taxes of any kind required by law to
be withheld upon the exercise of such Option from any payment of any kind otherwise due to the optionee. For
withholding tax purposes, the shares of Stock shall be valued on the date the withholding obligations are incurred.
The Company shall not be obligated to advise any optionee of the existence of any such tax or the amount that the
Company will be so required to withhold.

(i) Required Consent to and Notification of Code Section 83(b) Election. No election under Code Section 83(b) or

15

under a similar provision of the laws of a jurisdiction outside the United States may be made unless expressly
permitted by the terms of the Award Agreement or by action of the Committee in writing prior to the making of
such election. In any case in which a Participant is permitted to make such an election in connection with an
Award, the Participant shall notify the Company of such election within ten days of filing notice of the election
with the Internal Revenue Service or other governmental authority, in addition to any filing and notification
required pursuant to regulations issued under Code Section 83(b) or other applicable provision.
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(iii) Requirement of Notification upon Disqualifying Disposition under Code Section 421(b). If any Participant shall

make any disposition of shares of Stock delivered pursuant to the exercise of an ISO under the circumstances
described in Code Section 421(b) (i.e., a disqualifying disposition), such Participant shall notify the Company of
such disposition within ten days thereof.

(iv) Right to Contest. The Company shall have the right, but not the obligation, to contest, at its expense, any tax
ruling or decision, administrative or judicial, on any issue which is related to the Plan and which the Board
believes to be important to holders of Options issued under the Plan and to conduct any such contest or any
litigation arising therefrom to a final decision.

(e) Changes to the Plan. The Board at any time and from time to time may suspend, terminate, modify or amend the
Plan; provided, however, that any amendment that would: (i) materially increase the benefits accruing to
Participants under the Plan, or (ii) increase the number of shares of Stock as to which Awards may be granted
under the Plan or materially modify the requirements as to eligibility for participation in the Plan shall be subject
to the approval of a majority of the stockholders of the Company presented or represented and entitled to vote at a
duly constituted and held meeting of stockholders. Any such increase or modification that may result from
adjustments authorized by Section 10(c) hereof shall not require such approval. Except as otherwise provided, no
suspension, termination, modification or amendment of the Plan may adversely affect any Award previously
granted, unless the written consent of the Participant is obtained.

(f) Unfunded Status of Awards, Creation of Trusts. The Plan is intended to constitute an “unfunded” plan for equity
incentive compensation. With respect to any payments not yet made to a Participant or obligations to deliver Stock
pursuant to an Award, nothing contained in the Plan or any Award shall give any such Participant any rights that
are greater than those of a general creditor of the Company; provided that the Committee may authorize the
creation of trusts and deposit therein cash, Stock, other Awards or other property, or make other arrangements to
meet the Company’s obligations under the Plan. Such trusts or other arrangements shall be consistent with the
“unfunded” status of the Plan unless the Committee otherwise determines.

(g) Nonexclusivity of the Plan. Neither the adoption of the Plan by the Board nor its submission to the stockholders
of the Company for approval shall be construed as creating any limitations on the power of the Board or a
committee thereof to adopt such other incentive or compensation arrangements, apart from the Plan, as it may
deem desirable, including incentive or compensation arrangements and awards that do not qualify under Code
Section 162(m) or to which Code Section 409A does apply, and such other arrangements may be either applicable
generally or only in specific cases.

(h) Payments in the Event of Forfeitures; Fractional Shares. Unless otherwise determined by the Committee, in the
event of a forfeiture of an Award with respect to which a Participant paid cash consideration, the Participant shall
be repaid the amount of such cash consideration. No fractional shares of Stock shall be issued or delivered
pursuant to the Plan or any Award. The Committee shall determine whether cash, other Awards or other property
shall be issued or paid in lieu of such fractional shares or whether such fractional shares or any rights thereto shall
be forfeited or otherwise eliminated.
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(i) Compliance with Code Section 162(m).

(i) It is the intent of the Company that Options and SARs granted to Covered Employees and other Awards
designated as Awards to Covered Employees shall constitute qualified “performance-based compensation” within
the meaning of Code Section 162(m) unless otherwise determined by the Committee at the time of the Award
grant. The foregoing notwithstanding, because the Committee cannot determine with certainty whether a given
Participant will be a Covered Employee with respect to a fiscal year that has not yet been completed, the term
Covered Employee as used herein shall mean only a person designated by the Committee as likely to be a Covered
Employee with respect to a specified fiscal year. If any provision of the Plan or any Award Agreement relating to
an Award that is designated as intended to comply with Code Section 162(m) does not comply or is inconsistent
with the requirements of Code Section 162(m), such provision shall be construed or deemed amended to the extent
necessary to conform to such requirements, and no provision shall be deemed to confer upon the Committee or
any other person discretion to increase the amount of compensation otherwise payable in connection with any such
Award upon attainment of the applicable performance objectives.

(i) Notwithstanding any other provision of this Plan to the contrary, the Company may delay the payment of any
amount otherwise due to the Participant under this Plan if the Company reasonably anticipates that its deduction
resulting from such payment, either alone or in combination with any other amounts to be paid or provided to
under any section of this Plan or any Award Agreement associated with the Plan, would be reduced or eliminated
by the Code Section 162(m) deduction limitation; provided, however, that the Company shall make payments to
the Participant at the earliest date at which the Company believes the Code Section 162(m) deduction limitation
will no longer reduce or eliminate the Company’s deduction for such payments.

(j) Governing Law. The validity, construction, and effect of the Plan, any rules and regulations relating to the Plan
and any Award Agreement shall be determined in accordance with the laws of the State of Delaware, without
giving effect to principles of conflicts of laws, and applicable provisions of federal law.

(k) Limitation on Rights Conferred Under Plan. Neither the Plan nor any action taken hereunder shall be
construed as (i) giving any Eligible Person or Participant the right to continue as an Eligible Person or
Participant or in the employ or service of the Company or a Subsidiary or Affiliate, (ii) interfering in any
way with the right of the Company or a Subsidiary or Affiliate to terminate any Eligible Person’s or
Participant’s employment or service at any time (subject to the terms and provisions of any separate written
agreements), (iii) giving an Eligible Person or Participant any claim to be granted any Award under the
Plan or to be treated uniformly with other Participants and employees, or (iv) conferring on a Participant
any of the rights of a stockholder of the Company unless and until the Participant is duly issued or
transferred shares of Stock in accordance with the terms of an Award. Any Award shall not be deemed
compensation for purposes of computing benefits under any retirement plan of the Company or any
Subsidiary or Affiliate and shall not affect any benefits under any other benefit plan under which the
availability or amount of benefits is related to the level of compensation (unless required by any such other
plan or arrangement with specific reference to Awards under this Plan).

(1) Termination of Right of Action. Every right of action arising out of or in connection with the Plan by or on behalf
of the Company or of any Subsidiary or Affiliate, or by any stockholder of the Company or of any Subsidiary or
Affiliate against any past, present or future member of the Board, or against any employer, or by an employee
(past, present or future) against the Company or any Subsidiary or Affiliate will, irrespective of the place where an
action may be brought and irrespective of the place of residence of any such stockholder, director or employee,
cease and be barred as of the expiration of three years from the date of the act or omission in respect of which such
right of action is alleged to have risen.
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(m) Assumption. The terms and conditions of any outstanding Awards granted pursuant to this Plan shall be assumed

(n)

by, be binding upon and inure to the benefit of any successor company to the Company and shall continue to be
governed by, to the extent applicable, the terms and conditions of this Plan. Such successor Company shall not be
otherwise obligated to assume this Plan.

Severability; Entire Agreement. If any of the provisions of this Plan or any Award document is finally held to be
invalid, illegal or unenforceable (whether in whole or in part), such provision shall be deemed modified to the
extent, but only to the extent, of such invalidity, illegality or unenforceability, and the remaining provisions shall
not be affected thereby; provided, that, if any of such provisions is finally held to be invalid, illegal, or
unenforceable because it exceeds the maximum scope determined to be acceptable to permit such provision to be
enforceable, such provision shall be deemed to be modified to the minimum extent necessary to modify such
scope in order to make such provision enforceable hereunder. The Plan and any Award Agreements contain the
entire agreement of the parties with respect to the subject matter thereof and supersede all prior agreements,
promises, covenants, arrangements, communications, representations and warranties between them, whether
written or oral with respect to the subject matter thereof. No rule of strict construction shall be applied against the
Company, the Committee, or any other person in the interpretation of any terms of the Plan, Award, or agreement
or other document relating thereto.

(o) Plan Effective Date. The Plan will become effective if, and at such time as, the stockholders of the
Company have approved it by the affirmative votes of the holders of a majority of the voting securities of
the Company present, or represented, and entitled to vote on the subject matter at a duly held meeting of
stockholders, provided that the total vote cast on the proposal represents over 50 percent in interest of all
securities entitled to vote on the proposal. The date of such stockholder approval will be the Effective
Date. Unless earlier terminated by action of the Board, the authority of the Committee to make grants
under the Plan will terminate on the date that is ten years after the latest date upon which stockholders of
the Company have approved the Plan and the Plan will remain in effect until such time as the Company
has no further rights or obligations with respect to outstanding Awards or otherwise under the Plan.

(p) Adoption.

(i) This Plan was approved by the Board of Directors of the Company at a meeting on October 9, 2007.

(i1) This Plan was approved by the stockholders of the Company at a meeting on , 2007.

REEDS, INC.

By:

Christopher J. Reed
Chief Executive Officer
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PROXY
REED’S, INC.
ANNUAL MEETING
NOVEMBER 19, 2007

THIS PROXY IS SOLICITED ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The undersigned hereby appoints Christopher J. Reed and Judy Holloway Reed, and each or either of them, as

proxyholders of the undersigned, with the full power to appoint their substitute, and hereby authorizes them to

represent and vote, as designated on the reverse side hereof, all of the shares of the common stock of Reed’s, Inc. held
of record by the undersigned, which the undersigned may be entitled to vote, at the close of business on October 12,

2007, at the Annual Meeting of Stockholders of Reed’s, Inc. to be held on November 19, 2007, and any
continuation(s), postponement(s) or adjournment(s) thereof.

(Continued, and to be marked, dated and signed, on the other side.)
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THIS PROXY, WHEN PROPERLY EXECUTED AND DATED, WILL BE VOTED IN THE MANNER
DIRECTED HEREIN BY THE UNDERSIGNED STOCKHOLDER(S). IF NO DIRECTION IS MADE, THIS
PROXY WILL BE VOTED FOR THE ELECTION OF THE FIVE DIRECTOR NOMINEES UNDER
PROPOSAL 1, AND FOR PROPOSALS 2 AND 3, AND AT THE DISCRETION OF THE PROXIES WITH
RESPECT TO ANY OTHER MATTERS THAT PROPERLY COME BEFORE THE MEETING. THE
BOARD OF DIRECTORS RECOMMENDS A VOTE “FOR” THE ELECTION OF THE NOMINEES
UNDER PROPOSAL 1. TO VOTE, MARK BLOCKS BELOW IN BLUE OR BLACK INK, AS FOLLOWS:

(1)

2

3)

(INSTRUCTIONS: To withhold authority to vote for 0 FOR all nominees o WITHHOLD
any individual nominee, strike a line through the listed herein (except AUTHORITY to

nominee's name listed below) as marked up to the  vote for all nominees
contrary below). listed below.
01-Christopher J. Reed 02-Judy Holloway Reed 03-Mark Harris

04-Dr. D.S.J. Muffoletto, N.D. 05-Michael Fischman

To consider and vote upon an amendment to our certificate of incorporation to increase the
authorized number of shares of common stock from 11,500,000 shares to 19,500,000 shares.
o FOR o AGAINST o ABSTAIN

To adopt our 2007 Stock Incentive Plan (the “2007 Plan”) and to reserve up to 1,500,000 shares of
common stock for issuance under the 2007 Plan.
o FOR o0 AGAINST o ABSTAIN

PLEASE MARK, SIGN, DATE AND RETURN THIS PROXY PROMPTLY USING THE ENCLOSED,
PRE-PAID ENVELOPE.

Please date and execute this Proxy exactly as your name appears hereon. When shares are held by joint tenants,
both should sign. When signing as attorney, executor, administrator, trustee or guardian, please give full title as
such. If a corporation, please sign in full corporate name by the president or other authorized officer. If a
partnership, please sign in partnership name by authorized person.

Dated: , 2007

Signature

Signature, if held jointly
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